
 

 

 

 

Council 
Wednesday 26 March 2003, 7.30 pm 

AGENDA 
 
 Page No 

1. Apologies for Absence   

2. To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Council held on 27 February 2003  

5 - 14 

3. Declarations of Interest   

 To receive any declarations of interest in any matters on the agenda for 
the meeting. 
 

 

4. Appointment of Chief Executive   

 To receive the report of the Chief Executive Appointment Committee. 
 

15 - 16 

5. Mayor's Announcements   

6. Executive Report   

 To receive the Leader’s report on the work of the Executive since the 
Council meeting on 27 February 2003. 
 

17 - 26 

7. Review of Contract Regulations   

 To receive the report of the Director of Corporate Services. 
 

27 - 96 

8. Questions Submitted Under Council Procedure Rule 10   

 Notice has been received of the following questions to Members of the 
Executive 
 
By Councillor Adams to the Executive Member for Education 
 
Could the Executive Member for Education please explain the Borough 
policy for recycling waste at each of the school sites in Bracknell? 
 
By Councillor Glasson to the Executive Member for Social and Health 
Care Services and Housing 
 

 



Regarding the Council’s policy on the level of disregard of Disability 
Living Allowance and Attendance Allowance applied to calculating 
charges for service users, can the Social Care Portfolio Holder confirm 
that he has abandoned his proposal to cut the disregard to 50% by 
2005/06, and assure us that the level of disregard will be maintained at 
80% over the whole of the next three years? 
 
By Councillor Piasecki to the Leader of the Council 
 
a) Could the Leader advise this Council of the income, currently 

confirmed, from the onward sales to other authorities, of our 
Smartcard technology, which we have developed at great public 
expense, with our partners British Telecom, and which front line 
services will benefit from this income? 

 
b) When will the Smartcard be the subject of a Best Value 

Review? 
 
c) From our consultations with the Public, regarding the Budget for 

2003/4 can the Leader tell us how many residents have even 
the vaguest idea what the Smartcard is, what it has cost them 
so far, what it will cost them in the future, and which front line 
services reductions they are happy to accept in lieu of the 
Smartcard? 

 

9. Motion Submitted Under Council Procedure Rule 11   

 Motion 2/2003 submitted by Councillors McCormack and Glasson 
 
This Council welcomes the introduction of child tax credits as a major 
contribution towards the Government’s drive to end child poverty, and 
resolves: 
 
i to support in conjunction with local voluntary agencies and 

statutory services a benefits take up campaign drawing on the 
LGA’s good practice guide and supporting material; 

 
ii to encourage council employees to claim their entitlements; 
 
iii to apply the same principles to promote the launch of pension 

credits in Autumn 2003. 
 
Council further calls on the Council Executive to report back on 
progress in implementing the above measures and on the impact of 
local take up campaigns. 
 
Motion 3/2003 submitted by Councillors Beadsley and Piasecki 
 
The Council requests the Executive to ensure that, within the next four 
years, youth centre facilities, staff and activities are provided in South 
Bracknell for young people aged 13 to 16. 
 
(For the purposes of this motion South Bracknell is Great Hollands, 
Hanworth, Easthampstead, Wildridings, Crown Wood and Forest Park.) 

 



 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



57 

COUNCIL 
27 FEBRUARY 2003 
(7.30 pm – 9.35 pm) 

 
 

Present: Councillors Adams, Baily, Mrs Ballin, Barnard, Beadsley, Bettison, 
Birch, Mrs Birch, Miss Brown, Browne, Edger, Fawcett, Flood, 
Glasson, Harrison, Miss Haydon, Mrs Hayes, Henfrey, Jones, Kendall, 
McCormack, McCracken, Mills, North, Piasecki, Mrs Pile, Mrs Ryder, 
Simonds, Thompson, Turrell, Ward and Worrall 

 
 Apologies for absence were received from: 
   Councillors Egan, Finnie, Grayson, Sargeant, Mrs Shillcock and 

Mrs Mattick 
 
 
80. Minutes (Item 2) 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 5 February 2003 
be approved as a correct record, and signed by the Mayor. 
 
 

81. Matters Arising from the Minutes – Chief Executive Appointment Committee 
(Item 3) 
 
Arising from Minute 64, the Council noted that the following Members had been 
appointed to the Chief Executive Appointment Committee: 
 
Councillors: Mrs Ballin, Beadsley, Bettison (Chairman), Edger (Vice Chairman), 
McCormack, Mills, Turrell and Ward. 
 
Substitutes: Councillors Birch and Wade (2 vacancies). 
 
 

82. Declarations of Interest (Item 4) 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

83. Mayor’s Announcements (Item 5) 
 
(i) Notice of Motion – Mr Gordon S Mitchell 

 
In recognition of this being the last meeting of the Council to be attended by 
the current Chief Executive, Mr Gordon S Mitchell, a related Notice of Motion, 
moved by Councillor Bettison and seconded by Councillor McCormack, was 
tabled.  The Motion invited the Council to place on record its appreciation of 
the valued services of Mr Mitchell as Chief Executive of Bracknell Forest from 
1 June 1997 to 12 March 2003 and the contribution he had made to the 
Borough Council and residents of Bracknell Forest.  The Motion was carried. 
 
Having been presented with a memorial plaque of Bracknell Forest, Mr 
Mitchell described memorable facets of his role as Chief Executive, 
expressed his appreciation of the kind comments of Members and wished the 
Council and Borough of Bracknell Forest well for the future. 

5

Agenda Item 2

http://bfnet.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/servlet/webpub/xx/GWDOC/DREF/bfbc_intra.intra.cs_ds_committee/9676/Official/GWNative/GWContentRoot


58 

(ii) Annual Pancake Race 
 
Having advised of the opportunity to enter teams in the Charity Pancake Race 
to be held on Shrove Tuesday in favour of the Paul Bevan Hospice remained, 
the Mayor announced the Councillors that would be forming the ‘Mayor’s 
Team’ in this event. 

 
A paper listing the engagements completed by the Mayor for the period 5-27 
February 2003 was tabled for the Council’s information. 
 
 

84. Councillor Barry Egan (Item 6) 
 
Further to the receipt from Councillor Egan of a request for leave of absence from 
Council duties until the end of April 2003, the Council was reminded that Councillor 
Egan had suffered from ill health for some months and, at the time of his request, 
was about to undergo a course of hospital treatment.  In these circumstances the 
Council was able under Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 to approve 
the reasons for Councillor Egan’s absence from meetings in accordance with the 
request received. 
 
RESOLVED that Councillor Egan be granted leave of absence from Council duties 
until the end of April 2003. 
 
 

85. Local Elections 2003 – Appointment of Returning Officer (Item 7) 
 
The Mayor advised that the Council was required under Section 35 (1) of the 
Representation of the People Act 1983 to appoint an officer of the Council to be the 
Returning Officer for elections of councillors of the Borough and of the parishes 
within the Borough. 
 
At present the Chief Executive was the appointed Returning Officer.  However, in 
view of his imminent departure, it had become necessary for the Council to appoint 
another officer to fulfil the role of Returning Officer until such time as the new Chief 
Executive and Returning Officer was appointed.  It was noted that the first duty of the 
newly appointed Returning Officer would be to publish Notice of the forthcoming 
Local Elections by 24 March 2003. 
 
RESOLVED that Timothy Wheadon, the current Deputy Chief Executive and Director 
of Corporate Services, be appointed Returning Officer with effect from 10 March 
2003 until further notice. 
 
 

86. Executive Report (Item 8) 
 
The Leader of the Council reported on the main activities undertaken by the 
Executive since the meeting of the Council held on 5 February 2003.  Although the 
Executive’s attention had been focused on financial planning in respect of the 
forthcoming municipal year, which was the subject of a separate report to the 
Council, it had addressed two other important matters at its meeting held on 18 
February 2003.  These were:- 
 

 Compliance with fair access to care guidance; and 

 Deposit Draft Berkshire Structure Plan. 

6

http://bfnet.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/servlet/webpub/xx/GWDOC/DREF/bfbc_intra.intra.cs_ds_committee/9676/Official/GWNative/GWContentRoot


59 

 
The Leader of the Council then reported on the Comprehensive Performance 
Assessment (CPA) Improvement Plan which had been the subject of a meeting held 
on 25 February 2003 involving representatives of the Audit Commission, Government 
Office for the South East, KPMG consultants and the Social Services Inspectorate.  
The Improvement Plan, which would be considered by the Executive on 11 March, 
had been well received at the above meeting when positive support for the Borough’s 
Transport Best Value Review and wider transport policy work had been expressed.  
The CPA had indicated that Bracknell Forest would undergo a ‘light touch’ inspection 
regime in the future. 
 
With regard to the review of the Council’s overview and scrutiny arrangements, the 
Leader of the Council advised that the review paper had been discussed within the 
Political Groups and the potential changes effective from the commencement of the 
new municipal year had received broad agreement.  These involved the 
establishment of a single Scrutiny Commission with four Standing Panels, an 
enhanced performance management focus and an Executive/Scrutiny/Corporate 
Management Team work programme conference.  Detailed proposals would be 
submitted to the Constitution Review Group in March prior to adoption by the 
Council. 
 
The Leader of the Council provided an update in respect of the proposals for the 
redevelopment of Bracknell town centre.  On 24 February a visit from Lord Rooker 
and a meeting of the Town Centre Regeneration Committee had taken place and 
featured constructive dialogue with landowners and consideration of Council control 
of policy issues.  Receipt of a related outline planning application was expected in 
late Spring. 
 
A forward look to the Executive meeting to be held on 11 March indicated that the 
CPA Improvement Plan, Garth Hill Post 16 initiative, Draft Youth Justice Plan, Race 
Equality Scheme and Departmental Service Plans would be under consideration. 
 
The Leader then responded to questions on the report. 
 
 

87. Budget and Policy Framework (Item 9) 
 
Further to the report of the Director of Corporate Services concerning the proposed 
capital programme for 2003/04 to 2005/06 together with the Housing Revenue 
Account and General Fund revenue budget for 2003/04 and the level of Council Tax 
to be charged in the forthcoming year, the Leader of the Council elaborated upon, 
and moved adoption of, the related recommendations submitted by the Executive.  A 
tabled amendment was then moved and seconded, which had the effect of 
instructing the Executive to reconsider recommendations 2.3 i), ii), vi) and vii) and 
recommendations 3.3 (a) and (c) as follows:- 
 
2.3 i) The draft budget proposals in Annexe C to the report be agreed, except the 

budget reductions relating to reduced Social Services placements for Older 
People, Physical Disability and Learning Disability (£0.091m) and to the 
Children’s Services staffing budget (£0.022m); 

 
2.3 ii) The new budget proposals identified in section 3.4 be agreed, plus a further 

£0.047m to provide additional Youth Clubs for 11 and 12 year olds, adopting 
the scheme established in Great Hollands; 

 

7



60 

2.3 vi) Total expenditure of £100.668m (£100.508m as shown in Table 7 plus 
£0.160m additional expenditure per recommendations i and ii) be approved; 

 
2.3 vii) A contribution of £3.770m be made from revenue balances to support 

revenue expenditure; 
 
3.3 That the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 

2003/04 in accordance with Sections 32 to 36 of the Local Government and 
Finance Act 1992:- 

(a) £178,632,130 TOTAL EXPENDITURE INCLUDING GENERAL 
FUND, HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT AND 
PARISH PRECEPTS 

being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for 
the items set out in Section 32(2)(a) to (e) of the Act 

(c) £4,361,032 REDUCTION IN GENERAL FUND AND HOUSING 
REVENUE ACCOUNT BALANCES 

 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for 
the items set out in Section 32(3)(c) of the Act 

 
The amendment was put to the vote and declared lost.  The Executive proposal was 
then put to the vote and carried.  It was therefore 
 
RESOLVED that 
 
1. Capital Programme 2003/04 – 2005/06 
 
(i) Capital funding of £10.075m for 2003/04, in respect of new schemes listed in 

Annexes A-E of the report, be recommended to the Council; 
 
(ii) Those schemes that attract external grant funding be recommended to the 

Council for inclusion within the 2003/04 capital programme, at the level of 
funding received; 

 
(iii) The release of £1.473m from S106 monies be recommended to the Council 

to fund capital schemes outlined in Annexe G of the report [incorporated in 
Annexes A to E of the summary report for Council]; 

 
(iv) The indicative programme for 2004/05 and 2005/06 be reviewed in the light of 

resources available and spending priorities in December 2003. 
 
 
2. Housing Revenue Account 2003/04 
 
(i) The proposals for the Housing Revenue Account Budget for 2003/04 as set 

out in Annexe C be agreed; 
 
(ii) Garage rents, carports and parking spaces charges be increased by 3.6% 

(being 22 pence per week for garages and 11 pence per week for car ports 
and parking spaces); 

 

8



61 

(iii) Rents on dwellings increase by an average of 3.6% in line with the 
Government Guidelines on Rent Restructuring. 

 
 
3. Revenue Budget 2003/04 
 
(i) The draft budget proposals in Annexe C to the report be agreed; 
 
(ii) The new budget proposals identified in section 3.4 be agreed; 

 
(iii) The 2002/03 Treasury Management Annual Report and Strategy Document 

(Annexe D) be noted; 
 

(iv) Fees and charges as set out in Annexe E be approved; 
 

(v) A contingency of £0.4m be included; 
 

(vi) Total expenditure of £100.508m, as shown in Table 7, be approved; 
 

(vii) A contribution of £3.610m be made from revenue balances to support 
revenue expenditure; 

 
(viii) The Council’s total requirement for the Collection Fund, excluding Parish 

Council precepts, be set as £33.534m; 
 

(ix) The Council Tax for the Council’s services for each Valuation Band be set as 
follows: 

 

Band Tax Level  
Relative to  
Band D 

 
 
£ 

A 6/9 540.00 

B 7/9 630.00 

C 8/9 720.00 

D 9/9 810.00 

E 11/9 990.00 

F 13/9 1,170.00 

G 15/9 1,350.00 

H 18/9 1,620.00 

 
 

4. Council Tax Resolution 
 
(i) That the recommendations of the Executive outlined in section 2 of the report 

be agreed 
 
(ii) That it be noted that at its meeting on 4 December 2002 the Council 

calculated the following amounts for the year 2003/04 in accordance with 
regulations made under Section 33(5) of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992:- 

9



62 

 (a) 41,400     TAX BASE FOR WHOLE BOROUGH COUNCIL AREA 

being the amount calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
regulation 3 of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
Regulations 1992, as its council tax base for the year 

 
(b) TAX BASE FOR PART OF THE COUNCIL’S AREA 

 
     EACH PARISH AREA 

   
Binfield  3,240 

Bracknell  17,340 

Crowthorne  2,380 

Sandhurst  7,820 

Warfield  4,290 

Winkfield  6,330 

 
being the amounts calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
regulation 6 of the Regulations, as the amounts of its council tax base 
for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or 
more special items relate 

 
(iii) That the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 

2003/04 in accordance with Sections 32 to 36 of the Local Government and 
Finance Act 1992:- 

(a) £178,472,130 TOTAL EXPENDITURE INCLUDING GENERAL 
FUND, HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT AND 
PARISH PRECEPTS 

being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for 
the items set out in Section 32(2)(a) to (e) of the Act 

(b) £75,421,000 TOTAL INCOME INCLUDING GENERAL FUND 
AND HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for 
the items set out in Section 32(3)(a) to (b) of the Act 

(c) £4,201,032 REDUCTION IN GENERAL FUND AND 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BALANCES 

 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council estimates for 
the items set out in Section 32(3)(c) of the Act 

(d) £98,850,098 BOROUGH AND PARISH EXPENDITURE TO BE 
FINANCED FROM GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
AND COUNCIL TAX 

  being the amount by which the aggregate at (iii)(a) above exceeds the 
aggregate at (iii)(b) and (iii)(c) above, calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 32(4) of the Act, as its budget requirement 
for the year 

10



63 

(e) 63,414,968 GOVERNMENT SUPPORT FOR LOCAL 
SERVICES 

being the aggregate of the sums which the Council estimates will be 
payable for the year into its general fund in respect of redistributed 
non-domestic rates, revenue support grant and relevant special grants 

(f) £51,000 COUNCIL TAX / RESIDUAL COMMUNITY 
CHARGE  

being the amount of the sums which the Council estimates will be 
transferred in the year to its collection fund from its general fund in 
accordance with Section 97(3) of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988 (Council Tax Deficit) and increased by the amount of any 
sum which the Council estimates will be transferred to its collection 
fund from its general fund pursuant to the Collection Fund (Community 
Charges) directions under section 98(4) of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988 made on 7th February 1994) and increased by the 
amount representing the authority’s contribution to council tax benefit 
resulting from an increase in its council tax calculated in accordance 
with the Collection Fund (General) (England) Directions 1999, the 
Collection Fund (Council Tax Benefit) (England) Direction 1999 and 
the Local Authorities (Alteration of Requisite Calculations) (England) 
Regulations 1999 

(g) £857.15 AVERAGE BAND "D" COUNCIL TAX FOR 
WHOLE BOROUGH 

 being the amount at (iii)(d) above less the amount at (iii)(e) plus the 
amount at (iii)(f) above, all divided by the amount at (ii)(a) above, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 33(1) of the Act, 
as the basic amount of its council tax for the year 

(h) £1,952,130 PARISH PRECEPTS 

being the aggregate amount of all special items referred to in 
Section 34(1) of the Act 

(i) £810.00 BOROUGH COUNCIL TAX FOR BAND "D" 
PROPERTIES 

being the amount at (iii)(g) above less the result given by dividing the 
amount at (iii)(h) above by the amount at (ii)(a) above, calculated by 
the Council, in accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the basic 
amount of its council tax for the year if there were an area of the 
Borough to which no special item relates  

11



64 

(j) Part of the 
Council’s area 

BOROUGH AND PARISH COUNCIL TAX FOR 
EACH PARISH FOR BAND “D” 

Binfield £844.02 

Bracknell £861.61 

Crowthorne £862.10 

Sandhurst £865.26 

Warfield £839.14 

Winkfield £852.00 

being the amounts given by adding to the amount at (iii)(i) above the 
amounts of the special item or items relating to dwellings in those 
parts of the Council's area mentioned above divided in each case by 
the amount at (ii)(b) above, calculated by the Council, in accordance 
with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic amounts of its council tax 
for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which one or 
more special items relate 

(k) Part of the 
Council’s area 

BOROUGH AND PARISH COUNCIL TAX IN 
EACH PARISH FOR EACH VALUATION BAND 

 
Parish A B C D E F G H 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Binfield 562.68 656.46 750.24 844.02 1,031.58 1,219.14 1,406.70 1,688.04 

Bracknell 574.41 670.14 765.88 861.61 1,053.08 1,244.55 1,436.02 1,723.22 

Crowthorne 574.73 670.52 766.31 862.10 1,053.68 1,245.26 1,436.83 1,724.20 

Sandhurst 576.84 672.98 769.12 865.26 1,057.54 1,249.82 1,442.10 1,730.52 

Warfield 559.43 652.66 745.90 839.14 1,025.62 1,212.09 1,398.57 1,678.28 

Winkfield 568.00 662.67 757.33 852.00 1,041.33 1,230.67 1,420.00 1,704.00 

being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at (iii)(j) above by 
the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, 
is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided 
by the number which in that proportion is applicable to dwellings listed 
in valuation band D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 36(1) of the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for 
the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different 
valuation bands 

 (iv) That it be noted that for the year 2003/04 the Thames Valley Police Authority 
have stated the following amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in 
accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for 
each of the categories of dwellings shown below:- 

12



65 

 
Thames 
Valley Police 
Authority 

A B C D E F G H 

£70.83 £82.63 £94.44 £106.24 £129.85 £153.46 £177.07 £212.48 

(v) That, having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at (iii)(k) 
and (iv) above, the Council, in accordance with Section 30(2) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the following amounts as the 
amounts of council tax for the year 2003/04 for each of the categories of 
dwellings shown below:- 

 

(a) Part of the 
Council's 
area 

TOTAL COUNCIL TAX FOR EACH VALUATION 
BAND 

 
Parish A B C D E F G H 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Binfield 633.51 739.09 844.68 950.26 1,161.43 1,372.60 1,583.77 1,900.52 

Bracknell 645.24 752.77 860.32 967.85 1,182.93 1,398.01 1,613.09 1,935.70 

Crowthorne 645.56 753.15 860.75 968.34 1,183.53 1,398.72 1,613.90 1,936.68 

Sandhurst 647.67 755.61 863.56 971.50 1,187.39 1,403.28 1,619.17 1,943.00 

Warfield 630.26 735.29 840.34 945.38 1,155.47 1,365.55 1,575.64 1,890.76 

Winkfield 638.83 745.30 851.77 958.24 1,171.18 1,384.13 1,597.07 1,916.48 

 
(vi) (a) The amount of money which is for the time being the maximum amount 

which the authority may have outstanding by way of borrowing shall be 
the sum of the current external borrowing at 31st March 2003 plus the 
value of the Government’s Basic Credit Approval plus such short term 
borrowing that is needed for temporary capital or revenue purposes or 
£10 million, whichever is the lower (“the overall borrowing limit”); 

 
(b) The amount of money, being part of the overall borrowing limit, which 

may be held by way of short term borrowing is limited to £1 million; 
 

(c) The proportion of the total amount of interest payable by the Council 
which is at a rate or rates which can be varied by the person to whom it 
is payable or which vary by reference to any external factors shall be 
limited to 10%. 

 
 
 
 
        MAYOR 
 

13



66 

 

14



 

 

 (ITEM 4) 
 

COUNCIL 
26 MARCH 2003 

 

 
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE APPOINTMENT COMMITTEE 

 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Committee was appointed by the Council at its meeting on 4 December 2002.  

The Committee’s Terms of Reference are set  out in Minute 64. 
 
1.2 The following Members were nominated by the Group Leaders to serve on the 

Committee and these nominations were subsequently confirmed by the Council: 
 
 Councillors Mrs Ballin, Beadsley, Bettison (Chairman), Edger (Vice Chairman), 

McCormack, Mills, Turrell and Ward. 
 
 Substitutes: Councillors Birch and Wade 
 
 
2 MEETINGS 
 
2.1 Three meetings of the Committee have taken place as follows: 
 
 22 January 2003 
  
2.2 The first meeting of the Committee considered proposals for the recruitment process 

and other matters including the job application pack, selection process, advertising 
media and salary level. 

 
2.3 The Committee also agreed that it would be necessary to engage some consultancy 

support for the short listing and interview processes. 
 
 6 March 2003 
 
2.4 A competency matrix of skills required based on the agreed job profile and person 

specification was confirmed.  The Committee went on to review all applications 
received against the agreed matrix and drew up a list of candidates to be invited to 
attend for interview. 

 
 18/19 March 2003 
 
2.5 The Committee met to conduct interviews and make a final selection. 
 
 
3 CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 The recruitment processes adopted by the Committee led to an excellent field of high 

quality applicants.  This enabled the Committee to interview an exceptionally strong 
short list of candidates and, following a comprehensive selection process over two 
days, to bring forward an unanimous recommendation to the Council. 

15

Agenda Item 4



 

 

3.2 All Members were notified of the Committee’s recommendation on 19 March 2003 
and no objections have been received from Executive Members.  Accordingly the 
Committee now submits the following recommendation to the Council. 

 
4 RECOMMENDATION 
 
 That Timothy Wheadon, currently Director of Corporate Services and Deputy Chief 

Executive of Bracknell Forest Borough Council be appointed Chief Executive with 
effect from 1 April 2003.   

 
It is further recommended that Alexander Jack, Borough Solicitor, be appointed 
Monitoring Officer with effect from 1 April 2003. 

 
 
Background Papers 
Chief Executive Appointment Committee Agenda and Minutes – 22 January 2003, 6 March 
2003 & 18/19 March 2003 
 
Contact for further information 
Tony Madden  01344 352049 
Tony.madden@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Doc. Ref 
committee/cttee/docs 2002-2003/council/26 march 2003/report of the chief ex cttee 

 

16



 67 

(ITEM 6) 
COUNCIL 

26 MARCH 2003 
 

 
EXECUTIVE REPORT 

 
Since the Executive report to the previous Council meeting on 27 February 2003, the 
Executive has met on 11 March 2003.  The Executive Decisions taken at that meeting 
are brought to the attention of the Council in this report. 
 
 
1. GARTH HILL COLLEGE AND BRACKNELL AND WOKINGHAM POST-16 

CENTRE 
 

 The Council has been previously notified of discussions taking place and leading 
to proposals to establish a post-16 centre at Wick Hill.  This will be an exciting 
project at the leading edge of collaborative provision for the 16-19 age range.  
The Executive has now approved Heads of terms which relate to the 
development and future operation of the centre and to working in partnership to 
prepare a master plan for the future of the site.  Subject to the agreement of the 
parties involved, namely the Council, the School Governing Body and the College 
Corporation, to the Heads of Terms proposed the centre will proceed on the basis 
of joint management arrangements between Bracknell & Wokingham College and 
The Garth Hill College under the governance arrangements for the College.  
Work on the master plan is now nearing conclusion and it is hoped that the 
Executive will be able to approve this for consultation at its April meeting. 

 
 
2. YOUTH JUSTICE PLAN (BUSINESS PLAN 2003/04) 
 
 Local authorities are required to formulate and implement an annual Youth 

Justice Plan following the format set out in guidance produced by the Youth 
Justice Board.  This plan is part of the Council’s policy framework and is therefore 
subject to approval by the full Council but nevertheless has to be signed off by a 
wide range of external partners.  Government guidance for completion of the plan 
for the coming year was issued in November 2002 and the late receipt of this 
guidance coupled with the involvement of other stakeholders has made it 
impossible to complete the plan by the statutory deadline of 31 March 2003.  In 
these circumstances the Executive have agreed that the final Youth Justice Plan 
for the coming year will be brought to the Executive, and subsequently the 
Council, in June.  This will enable a full and detailed business plan to be finalised 
with Youth Justice Board approval and complete financial information. 

 
 
3. RACE EQUALITY SCHEME  
 
 Section 71(1) of the Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 places new duties on 

public authorities irrespective of the size of the local ethnic minority population.  
This is a direct response to national reports dealing with the identification of 
institutional racism.   

 
 In response to these new duties, the Executive has approved proposals for the 

development of a Race Equality Scheme for the Council designed to meet the 
new statutory responsibilities.  The initial scheme has been the subject of 
consultation and discussion with departmental representatives involved in fair 
access and equality issues and has been drawn up in consultation with the 
Reading office of the Council for Racial Equality.  The priority now is to prepare a 

17

Agenda Item 6



 68 

comprehensive race equality scheme comprising aims and objectives plus action 
planning which will be in place by May 2003. 

 
 
4. CPA IMPROVEMENT PLAN 2002/2004 
 
 Following the comprehensive performance assessment undertaken during late 

2002 by the Audit Commission and other inspectorates, there is a requirement to 
respond by the production of an improvement plan.  The Executive has now 
approved a draft improvement plan covering the period 2002/2004.  The 
Improvement Plan is a high level summary of other plans for improving services 
in the coming months through a series of more detailed service plans and other 
strategic plans.  A copy has been circulated with the agenda for this meeting and 
the Executive has submitted the following recommendation: 

 
 RECOMMENDATION That the CPA Improvement Plan 2002/2004 be approved 

and adopted as the Council’s formal response to the issues raised. 
 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT 
 
 One of the key recommendations arising from the Best Value Review of Finance 

was that the Council should introduce an approach to risk management which 
more adequately reflected current best practice.  This led to the establishment of 
a strategic Risk Management Group to develop a corporate approach to risk 
management.  The Executive has now adopted a policy statement which lays the 
foundations for the adoption of best practice and contributes towards the 
development of such a corporate approach. 

 
 
6. PROCUREMENT STRATEGY AND REVIEW OF CONTRACT REGULATIONS 
 
 The Best Value Review of Finance also took account of modern best practice 

relating to local government procurement and gave rise to a series of 
recommendations in that respect.  Since completion of the review work has been 
in progress to implement a number of those recommendations which were agreed 
by the Executive on 18 June 2002 and in subsequent reports.  A draft 
procurement strategy and implementation plan have now been endorsed by the 
Executive as set out in Annexe A and B 

 
RECOMMENDATION that the draft Procurement Strategy and Implementation 
Plan set out in the Annexes to this report be adopted.   

 
Interim revisions to Contract Regulations have also been endorsed by the 
Executive and, as a variation to the Council’s Constitution, are the subject of a 
separate report (Agenda Item 7). 

 
 
7. TRANSFER OF BERKSHIRE HEALTHCARE TRUST RESIDENTIAL HOMES 

TO INDEPENDENT SECTOR PROVIDERS 
 
 The closure of long stay hospitals such as Church Hill House has enabled many 

people with learning difficulties to lead more socially included lives than they were 
able to as long term NHS patients.  It is considered  that the NHS should not be a 
provider of social care and that the outcomes for the individuals living in 
residential homes would be improved through management by organisations 
which were primarily concerned with the provision of social rather than medical 
care. 

18



 69 

 
 Eighteen residential homes are located in the Borough and are currently being 

run by the Berkshire Healthcare Trust.  There has been a tender process to move 
14 of these homes to independent sector care providers funded through Section 
28A of the National Health Services Act 1977.  The funding is provided by the 
Strategic Health Authority to the care provider via the Council’s Social Services & 
Housing Department who are responsible for commissioning social care. 

 
 Following a comprehensive tendering process the landlord function for the 14 

homes in the borough will be provided by a registered social landlord.  Two care 
providers have been selected each of which will be responsible for the delivery of 
care in seven of the homes.  In approving these arrangements the Executive has 
been assured that the transfer to a new care provider will be in the best interests 
of the residents involved and will be handled with the utmost sensitivity and 
proper consultation with the residents’ families and carers. 

 
 
8. LOOKING AHEAD 
 
 The next Executive Forward Plan will be published on 1 April 2003 and will be 

available for public inspection at Easthampstead House in the usual way.  Of 
particular interest will be consideration of the department service plans for 
2003/04 along with other important matters such as the master plan for the joint 
16-19 centre at Wick Hill and the action plan arising from the SSI inspection of 
services to older people. 

19



 70 

 
  

20



PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 

 70 

Definition 
 
Procurement in the wider sense encompasses the whole 
process of acquiring external goods and services, from 
determining and specifying the requirement, reviewing the 
market, sourcing suppliers, obtaining and evaluating bids, 
negotiating and awarding a contract, through to contract 
management. Strategic procurement is the development of 
ways of interaction with the supply market so as to exercise influence upon it, to 
obtain maximum supplier contribution to securing better services, value for money 
and delivery of strategic objectives. It requires differing approaches dependant on the 
service, market, value and risk. 
 
Background 
 

Procurement is becoming central to the delivery of high quality public services as well 
as simply securing value for money; it can also help the Council achieve wider 
objectives. Currently over £91m pa is spent on bought in goods and services via 
outside organisations and over 200 staff are involved in procurement activity to some 
degree. There are currently over 4,500 suppliers generating 66,000 paper invoices 
annually. 
 
Sir Ian Byatt’s review of local govt procurement, “Delivering better Services for 
Citizens” published in July 2001, drew attention to the importance of taking a more 
strategic view of procurement within local authorities and the need to introduce best 
practice techniques. Amongst its key recommendations was that all authorities 
establish a corporate procurement function and set out a formal strategy for its 
development. The Council’s management of procurement is now measured as part of 
the Comprehensive Performance Assessment process.  
 
The Best Value report on Finance reported in June 2002 and echoed many of the 
Byatt recommendations and led to the appointment of Rob Atkins as Head of 
Procurement for the Council. 
 
The financial background against which this is set is one of the Council’s expenditure 
exceeding its revenues, with the gap being filled from reserves. The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy is to bring resources and expenditure into line. 
 
This paper now sets out a new set of principles to govern future procurement in 
Bracknell to address these issues and appends a plan to make it happen.   
 
Key Aim 
 
The key aim of the Council’s procurement activity should be to support the 
achievement of the Council’s key objectives and allow concentration of more 
resources, both financial and staff time, on delivering core tasks and help bridge the 
budget gap. This will be achieved by securing best value for money, reducing or 
managing risk and modernising related business processes through the adoption of 
best practice procurement techniques for all bought-in goods & services. 
 
 
Principles 
 
To achieve this, the following 11 key principles will form the governing basis for the 
Council’s future procurement. 

 

Annex A 

21



PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 

 71 

 
(i) A strategic overview will be taken of the Council’s procurement activities to 

ensure professional support can be concentrated on the more important and 
complex areas of spend. This will highlight opportunities for rationalisation of 
the supply base, establishment of more corporate contracts, collaboration 
with other authorities, partnering etc, which will reduce costs. 

(ii) Procurement will form a specific part of the Council’s normal planning 
process, both in Council’s annual Policy and Performance Plan and 
individual Service Plans. 

(iii) All procurement decisions will be taken on the basis of Best Value.  Quality, 
risk management, whole life cost and employment issues, not just purchase 
price shall be given due weight in the evaluation of all bids. In the long term, 
this will reduce costs and help meet the Council’s objective of delivering 
better services. 

(iv) E-Procurement can best be exploited by ensuring new contracts incorporate 
requirements for e-trading wherever practical and collaborating with 
neighbouring authorities to establish a viable local E-MarketPlace based on a 
strong platform of joint procurement activity. 

(v) Procurement will support wider Council objectives. It will  therefore be 
consistent with the aims and objectives included in the Council’s:                            

 Community Plan 

 Local Agenda 21 strategy 

 Medium Term Objectives 

 Departmental Policy Objectives 
Core aims and objectives set out in other strategic documents  

(vi) Related business processes should be simplified to free staff to concentrate 
on the Council’s key priorities. Call off contracts should be developed to 
exploit the opportunities offered by new technology to automate high volume 
low value purchasing. This will allow procurement staff to focus more time on 
complex projects and strategy. This will release staff time for core business 
activities. 

(vii) Supply Markets, especially in key strategic areas of expenditure, will be 
engaged more directly to improve mutual understanding so they can better 
respond to the Council’s needs. This should reduce costs and deliver better 
services. 

(viii) All staff involved in procurement (including schools) should have access to 
relevant training and professional advice to ensure they can make use of 
best practice techniques. A network of procurement practitioners within the 
Council should be established through which guidance will be disseminated 
and experience shared. Teams undertaking Best Value reviews or larger 
projects will include a procurement professional as a matter of course. This 
should reduce costs and deliver better services. 

(ix) The organisation of procurement will continue to be based on the delegation 
of day to day procurement activity to departments, with the issue of 
professional advice and guidance and overall strategic direction being the 
responsibility of the Head of Procurement. However the Head of Procurement 
will be responsible for the establishment and strategic management of 
corporate contracts, where they are appropriate and should be involved in 
Best Value reviews. 

(x) All procurement activity must be subject to a high standard of ethical 
behaviour, consistent with the Council’s Code of Conduct. It must be fair 
and, subject to normal commercial confidentiality, open.  

22



PROCUREMENT STRATEGY 

 72 

(xi) Procurement practices, policies and processes, including this strategy, will be 
subject to continuous improvement with monitoring and evaluation backed 
by best practice benchmarking. 

 
CMT and Member Involvement 
 
The Byatt report recommended that elected members should take a more strategic 
role in securing quality outcomes and that there should be clear political responsibility 
for procurement. This was echoed in the BV Finance Review (Recommendation 20) 
which suggested the Executive should nominate a Member with responsibility for 
procurement. Recommendation 21 went on to propose that CMT correspondingly 
nominate a Director with specific responsibility for Procurement. 
 
The role of such Director and Member were not defined in either report, but would 
most appropriately cover the following: 

 Scrutiny of Annual Report on procurement activity within the Council, 
prepared by the Head of Procurement. This report would cover the overall 
scope and extent of procurement, identify the main contracts awarded 
and forthcoming programme, identify achievements, lessons learnt etc. 

 Consideration of any proposals representing major procurement policy 
changes e.g. Contract Regulations, Procurement manual etc.

 
The Director of Corporate Resources has overall responsibility for Procurement. 
 
Key Drivers for Change 
 
The key drivers for implementation of these changes are considered to be: 

 Top level commitment to strategy  

 Establishing good lines of communication with the procurement community within 
Bracknell Forest 

 Review of Standing Orders  

 Training 

 Collaboration and aggregation 

 Availability of professional Procurement support 

 E-procurement 

 

23



This page is intentionally left blank



PROCUREMENT STRATEGY: 
 IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

 73 

 
 
 
Aims 
 
To support the achievement of the Council’s key objectives and 
allow concentration of more resources, both financial and staff 
time, on delivering core tasks. This will be done by securing 
best value for money, reducing or managing risk and modernising related business 
processes through the adoption of best practice procurement techniques for all 
bought-in external goods & services. 
 
 
Objectives 
 
(i) Take a strategic overview of corporate procurement.  

- Undertake Portfolio Analysis to identify key spend areas and 
suppliers 

- Identify scope for aggregation of demand into larger/corporate 
contracts 

- Identify scope for collaborative arrangements 
- Identify the procurement community within BFBC  
- Create procurement performance measures against agreed 

baseline 
- Prepare an Annual report to the Executive 
 

(ii) Establish procurement as specific element in corporate and departmental 
planning process. 

- Incorporate Council’s procurement strategy and this 
implementation plan in the Council’s annual Policy and 
Performance Plan. 

- Establish procurement strategy/plan for each individual 
department as part of annual Service Plans 

- Review plans annually in normal planning process 
 

(iii) Adopt a commercial approach, in line with Best Value principles, to all 
procurement decisions 

- Evaluate all  bids on quality as well as whole life cost wherever 
appropriate 

- Review procurement processes and Contract Regulations (and 
keep them under review) 

- Prepare process guide in the form of a Procurement Manual 
and best practice toolkit with standard documentation and 
procedures to help Departmental staff 

- Ensure in addition that Departments have access to 
professional advice/involvement wherever needed 

-  
(iv) Develop scope for E-Procurement  

- Forge links with neighbouring authorities to identify scope for 
collaborative procurement and establishment of local E-
MarketPlace 

- Ensure new contracts incorporate requirements for e-trading 
wherever possible 

- Identify scope for e-tendering and e-auctions 
 

25



PROCUREMENT STRATEGY: 
 IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

 74 

(v) Commit to principles of sustainability and ethical procurement where these 
can be achieved within the terms of Best Value principles 

- Develop appropriate best practice guidance to staff.  
 

(vi) Simplify business processes 
- Establish framework agreements for high volume/low value 

goods and services;  
- Prepare process guide in the form of a Procurement Manual 

and best practice toolkit with standard documentation and 
procedures to help Departmental staff 

- Ensure effective interfaces with other Council systems and 
processes 

 
(vii) Improve Communications  with markets 

- Publish annual procurement plan/programme of forthcoming 
contracts  

- Identify markets that do not deliver optimum performance and 
seek to develop/manage them to better effect 

- Identify opportunities for greater partnership 
working/collaboration with suppliers/markets 

- Initiate development programme with major suppliers and 
partners 

 
(viii) Ensure availability of appropriate training and guidance for all staff involved in 

procurement (incl schools) 
- Undertake procurement skills gap analysis 
- Develop training programme, buying-in expertise as required 
- Prepare Procurement Guidance Reference Manual covering 

principles and processes and summarised Mini Guide 
- Prepare detailed best practice toolkit with standardised 

documentation  
 

(ix) The organisation of procurement  will remain unchanged but: 
- improve communications with staff and schools 
- develop feedback system for identifying lessons learnt from 

individual procurement exercises and sharing best practice 
- Ensure all clarity in all guidance issued. (Use plain English) 
 

(x) Ensure all suppliers are treated fairly and openly in the award of Council 
contracts 

- Prepare Ethical Code as part of Procurement Manual and 
integrate with Council’s Code of Conduct 

 
(xi) Commit to continuous improvement of all procurement practices and 

procedures 
- regularly review Contract Regs, Procurement Manual and 

Toolkit 
- Initiate benchmarking review of procurement and refresh bi-

annually 
- Establish and monitor Key Performance Indicators for 

Procurement 

26



 75 

(ITEM 7) 
 

COUNCIL 
26 MARCH 2003 

 

 
REVIEW OF CONTRACT REGULATIONS 

(Director of Corporate Services) 
 
 
1 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 At its meeting on 11 March 2003 the Executive considered a report that set out 

areas where existing Contract Regulations posed operational difficulties and 
proposed four relatively straightforward amendments that would contribute towards 
the efficient working of the Council, pending a full and comprehensive review of the 
regulations. 

 
1.2 The four areas where amendments are proposed are as follows: 
 

a) Single tender action 
 
b) Use of standard contract conditions 
 
c) Framework agreements, 
 
d) Links to the key decision procedure in the Council’s constitution 

 
1.3 As Contract Regulations comprise a part of the Council’s constitution, the Council is 

required to approve the proposed amendments. 
 
 
2 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That Council approves the interim revisions to Contract Regulations 
 
 
3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 The interim revisions to Contract Regulations will eliminate some of the operational 

difficulties that are being encountered with the current regulations. 
 
 
4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 The only alternative option would be to defer the recommendation in 2 above.  This 

would mean retaining the operational difficulties associated with the current Contract 
Regulations. 

 
 
5 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
5.1 A recommendation arising from the Best Value Review of Finance was that standing 

orders should be reviewed to ensure they promote efficient and effective 
procurement whilst maintaining safeguards of probity and good governance.  The 

27

Agenda Item 7



 76 

Strategic Procurement Group’s overall view is that Contract Regulations are in need 
of major revision to bring them up to date to reflect current procurement practice and 
to simplify the structure to make them easier to understand.  The ultimate aim will be 
to completely rewrite the Regulations, including the more detailed procedural 
guidance in a Procurement Manual, which would act as a sister publication to the 
Contract Regulations in the same way as Financial Regulations are supported by the 
Financial Management Handbook.  Because of the scale of the task, this is unlikely 
to be completed for some time, with March/April 2004 representing a realistic 
timescale. 

 
5.2 The current Contract Regulations do, however, pose a number of operational 

difficulties and the Strategic Procurement Group has identified four specific areas 
where relatively straightforward amendments can make a significant contribution to 
the efficiency of the Council, pending the outcome of a full review.  The four areas 
are: 

 
a) Single tender action 

 
b) Use of standard contract conditions 

 
c) Framework agreements, and 

 
d) Links to the key decision procedure in the Council’s constitution. 

 
5.3 The Council’s existing Contract Regulations are attached as an Annex, suggested 

deletions are shown crossed out with additions highlighted in bold.  Each change is 
accompanied by a detailed commentary in italics.  The rationale for each of the 
amendments is set out below: 

 
 Single Tender Action 
 

Under existing Contract Regulations single tender action can be used for contracts 
up to £5,000.  If the contract is for more than £5,000 the Responsible Director needs 
to obtain approval from the Executive. 
 
This can cause delay in dealing with relatively minor and fairly routine cases that 
could be decided by senior officers. There is, though, no question of relaxing the 
criteria used in arriving at decisions. 
 
The proposed change affects only cases above £5,000. It provides for full written 
justification by responsible Directors to be submitted for approval by the Section 151 
Officer or Monitoring Officer. The acceptable criteria set out in Annex A of the 
existing Regulations remain, changed only by the deletion of one out dated criterion. 
Members remain involved in the more significant decisions however as above 
£250,000, approval must be obtained from the Leader or the Leader’s nominee 
(Committee Chair for non-Executive functions). 

 
Use of Standard Contract Conditions 
 
The allowable standard terms and conditions to be used in the Council’s contracts 
are not prescribed in the Regulations, nor is a formal approval procedure stipulated. 
 
This can lead to confusion over what is acceptable and exposes the Council to 
unnecessary contractual risk for example where suppliers-own terms are used or 
where suppliers insist on amending some of the Council’s terms.  

28



 77 

 
The proposed change makes the use of the Council’s standard conditions of 
contract mandatory and permits changes and exceptions only with the agreement of 
the Borough Solicitor.  Other specialised standard contract forms e.g. Joint 
Contracts Tribunal (JCT), may only be used with the Borough Solicitor’s agreement.  
A list of currently approved forms is included.  For contracts above £150,000, or in 
any cases of doubt, staff are required to consult the Borough Solicitor.  

 
Framework Agreements 

 
No provision is currently made for Framework Agreements, meaning that 
technically, all individual orders made under them would need single tender 
approval.  
 
This negates the whole purpose of Framework Agreements, greater use of which 
was foreshadowed by the Best Value Finance Report and forms part of the 
Council’s proposed Procurement Strategy and Implementation Plan. 
 
The proposed change exempts from the single tender provisions of Contract 
Regulations, any order placed against a Framework Agreement approved by the 
Head of Procurement (in consultation with the Borough Solicitor as necessary to 
ensure compliance with EC Procurement Directives).  Those Frameworks that are 
approved are listed in Annex E to the regulations and will be published on the 
intranet. 
 
Links to the Key Decision Procedure 

 
The Key Decision procedure is not referred to in the Regulations 
 
The changes simply cross refer to the Key Decision procedure where appropriate. 
 

5.4 A training seminar is planned to appraise relevant key staff of the changes and how 
their working practices will be affected. The new regulations will be published on the 
intranet. 
 

 
6 ADVICE RECEIVED FROM STATUTORY AND OTHER OFFICERS 
 

Borough Solicitor 
 
6.1 There are no specific legal issues arising from this report. 
 
 Borough Finance Officer 
 
6.2 The proposed amendments to Contract regulations have no direct financial 

implications, although the changes will improve the efficiency of Council procedures 
and decision making in a number of areas. 

 
Access Implications 

 
6.3 None 
 
 
 
 

29



 78 

7 CONSULTATION 
 

Principal Groups Consulted 
 
7.1 Staff involved in the procurement process have been consulted via the Strategic 

Procurement Group. 
 
 
 
 
 

Background Papers 
 
Finance Best Value Review – Final Report & Improvement Plan (June 2002) 
Byatt Report – Delivering Better Services for Citizens (July 2002) 
Strategic Procurement Group – Agendas & Minutes 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact for further information 
 
Timothy Wheadon – 01344 355621 
Timothy.wheadon@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Alan Nash –01344 352180 
Alan.nash@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Rob Atkins – 01344 352297 
Rob.atkins@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Doc. Ref 
F:\Procurement\Committee Reports\Draft Council Report (March 03).doc 

30

mailto:Timothy.wheadon@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:Alan.nash@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:Rob.atkins@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 1 of 65 

CONTRACT REGULATIONS 
 
Introduction 
 
These procedures are Standing Orders made pursuant to Section 135 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 relating to Contracts (the procedures are referred to as “Contract 
Regulations”) and were agreed by the Council on 22nd November 2001this will need to be 
changed once we get approval 
and were agreed by the Council on 26 March 2003. 
 
The Local Government Act 2000 required the Council to draw up a Constitution in order to 
put in place “Executive Arrangements”.  Under Executive Arrangements the Council 
functions are essentially divided between those which are the responsibility of “the 
Executive” (see below) and those which are the responsibility of the Council or a Committee 
of the Council.  The major functions which remain the responsibility of the Council or a 
Committee of the Council include Development Control, Licensing Responsibilities, and 
Employment/Personnel Issues 

 

The responsibility for decision making for almost all other functions rests with the 
“Executive”.  The Executive comprises, the Leader plus up to 9 other Councillors.  Subject to 
any constraints contained in the Constitution (of which these Contract Regulations form part) 
and the Scheme of Delegation to Officers, the Leader determines whether the power to take 
a particular decision rests with the Leader, the Full Executive, a Committee of the Executive 
or an individual Executive Member.  In practice, insofar as the power to take a decision has 
not been delegated to an Officer, responsibility for taking decisions in connection with 
Executive functions has largely been delegated to individual Executive Members.  The 
Scheme of Delegation within the Executive is set out in Part 3 of the Council’s Constitution 
which is on the Council’s Intranet.  
 
Every Contract made by or on behalf of the Council including those entered into by or under 
the authorisation of: 
 

• The Council 
 

• The Leader 
 

• The Executive or Committee of the Executive or single member of the Executive or 
Committee or Sub-Committee. 

 

• Responsible Director of the Council pursuant to powers delegated to him 
 

• Consultants employed by Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
 

• Schools operating under statutory delegated powers 
 
shall comply with these Contract Regulations. These regulations apply to Contracts where 
the Council is purchasing works, goods and services (including consultancy but not including 
the instructing of Counsel)  or disposing of goods or supplying services, but not to contracts 
of employment. The regulations apply to land transactions and the advice of the Borough 
Solicitor should be sought on all contracts involving the acquisition and disposal of land.  The 
regulations also apply to contracts for the purchase of consultancy services (but not 

31



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 2 of 65 

including the instructing of Counsel) where specifically stated as being applicable.Shouldn’t 
we delete this now?yes as you have inserted it earlier! 
 
 
No exception can be made to these Contract Regulations other than:- 
a)in respect of a non-Executive function by a decision of the Council or Responsible 

Committee, or 
b)in respect of an Executive function by the Executive 
 
A decision by the Executive to make an exception to these contract regulations shall be a 
decision to which Paragraph 16(“call-in”) of Part IV of the Council’s Constitution shall apply. 
 
 
 
These Contract Regulations should be read in conjunction with Financial Regulations and 
other relevant parts of the Council’s constitution in particular the Access to Information 
procedure Rules relating to Key Decisions Procedure.  Schools should also refer to the 
Scheme for Financing Schools. 
 
 
Interpretation 
 
In these Contract Regulations unless the context otherwise requires the following words 
shall have the following meanings:- 
 
“Council” means Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
 
“Executive” means a meeting to which the Leader and all those 

Members that are serving as Executive Members 
have been invited.  

 
 
“Executive Members” means the Executive, a Committee of the Executive 

or an individual member of the Executive depending 
upon the Scheme of Delegation for Executive 
functions determined by the Leader of the Council.  

 
“Responsible Committee” means a Committee of the Council to whom the 

powers to enter into a Contract have been delegated 
in accordance with the Council’s Standing Orders. 

 
“Responsible Director” means the Director of the Council or such other 

officer to whom the power or responsibility to enter 
into a Contract has been authorised or delegated in 
accordance with the Council’s Standing Orders.  For 
schools, this means the Head Teacher. 

 
“Value” There are special rules relating to the valuation of 

contracts to which the Public Procurement 
Regulations apply. 

 For other contracts value means the amount or value 
of a Contract which shall be calculated (or estimated 
where calculation is not possible) over the expected 

Moved to para 1.1 for clarity 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

32



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 3 of 65 

term of the Contract.  Where a Contract is for the 
provision of goods and services to more than 2 
parties, the Value is that attributable to that part of 
the Contract relating to value to be received by the 
Council only.  Where the Council receives value 
which does not relate to money paid by the Council 
the non-monetary consideration received by the 
Council over the term of the Contract shall be 
estimated in order to determine the Value. 

 
For any Contract where the term of the Contract is 
indeterminate the Contract shall be taken as being for 
a five year term for the purpose of calculating the 
Value of it  EXCEPT THAT in respect of a Contract 
for the provision of social care to one individual where 
the term shall be taken as being for one year for the 
purpose of calculating the Value. 
 
In all cases, requirements should NOT be split into 
separate contracts in order to avoid the application of 
elements of these regulations. 

 
 
 “Tender” means a formal sealed offer made in writing, 

submitted under closed cover in response to an 
invitation to tender issued by the Responsible 
Director on behalf of the Council and anticipated to 
be above £50,000 in Value. 

 
“Quotation” means the amount stated as the price of goods or 

services anticipated to be below £50,000 in Value. 
 
“Contract” means an agreement (whether made orally or in 

writing) made between the Council and one or more 
persons which is intended to be enforceable in law, 
excluding a.  greements between the Council and a 
voluntary organisation relating to grant aid given by 
the Council and the organisation.  

                                    and agreements                             and agreements for grant aid 
given to the Council  

 
“Term Contract” means a Contract for the regular provision of 

services, works of periodic maintenance or 
comprising schedules of rates for use in the provision 
of goods, works or services. 

 
“Economically Advantageous” means the best value to the Council as a whole, 

considering not only price but other criteria which are 
applied to the tender evaluation process. 

 
 

33



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 4 of 65 

Agreements between the Council and a voluntary organisation relating to grant aid given by 
the Council and the organisation will not normally fall within the scope of these Contract 
Regulations as they are not normally intended to be enforceable in law.I have only just 

spotted this after all this time! I think this would be much better deleted and inserted as part 
of the definition of “Contract” 

34



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 5 of 65 

 
Arrangement of Regulations  
 
 
These Contract Regulations are divided into various sections and annexes as follows:- 
           Page Nos:- 
SECTION 1:  General requirements for entering into Contracts   
   

1.1 Authority for entering into Contracts 16 
1.2 General Procedures for entering into Contracts. 61 
1.3 Procedures for selecting tenderers 72 
  

SECTION 2:  Requirements for the reception and opening and acceptance 
of tenders 

 

  

2.1 Reception and opening of Tenders and Quotations 94 
2.2 Acceptance of Tenders and Quotations 105 
2.3 Post Tender negotiations 610 
  

SECTION 3:  Contract execution procedures  
  

3.1 Evidence and signing of Contracts 127 
3.2 Recording of Contracts 127 
  

SECTION 4:  Public Procurement  
  

4.1 Relationship with Contract Regulations 138 
4.2 Public Supply Contract Regulations 138 
4.3 Public Works Contract Regulations 138 
4.4 Public Service Contract Regulations 138 
4.5 Advertisements 138 
  

SECTION 5:  Best Value   
  

5.1 Best Value  149 
5.2 Governing Principles  149 
  

SECTION 6:  Contents of Contracts  
  

6.1 Categories Form of Contract 1510 
6.2 Standard contents 10 
6.3      Health and Safety 10 
6.4 Performance bonds, liquidated damages and deeds of guarantee 10 
6.5 Dispute resolution 11 
6.6 Default 11 
6.7 Data protection 11 
6.8 Liability of contractors for sub-contractors 12 
6.9 Standards 12 
6.10 Cancellation of Contracts 12 
6.11 Restrictions on assignment 12 
6.12 Final certificate 13 
6.13 Contractors or consultants dealing with third parties 13 
6.14 Human Rights 13 
6.15 Clauses specific to contracts with consultants 13 
6.16 Rights of Third Parties  14 
6.17 EMU compliance 14 
  

SECTION 7:  Ancillary Matters  
  

35



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 6 of 65 

7.1 Disposal of assets 156 
7.2 Contract variation 165 
7.3 Contracts over 5 years in duration 176 
 
ANNEXES  
  
Annex A: Circumstances justifying Single Tender Action  178 
Annex B: The Use of Approved Lists of Tenderers  198 
Annex C: Public Advertising Requirements 2019 
Annex D: Procedure where Public Advertising only is used 210 
Annex E: Framework Agreements 22 
Annex F:Conditions of Contract 23 

36



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 7 of 65 

This lot will need updating to take into account the new annexes etc.

37



38



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 9 of 65 

CONTRACT REGULATIONS – SUMMARY 

 
(Note: This diagram provides a quick overview only – exceptions to these general rules are covered in the written regulations) 

]

Record in writing

Copy kept on file.

On any reasonable basis as

determined by the

Responsible Director

No formal requirements

but maintain written record

(See ordering procedure within

 Financial Mangement Handbook)

Reasonable discretion

of

Responsible Director

Value fo Money

Min 1 Quotation

£0 - £5,000

Contract in writing

signed by Responsible

Director.

Copy kept on file.

Accept either lowest or

most economically advantageous.

Using Approved lists, accept lowest

only.

No formal

requirements but

maintain written

record

Reasonable discretion

of

Responsible Director

3 Written Quotations

£5,001 - £50,000

Form approved by Borough

Solicitor. Signed by Responsible

Director. Entry in register of

ontracts  Orginal contract kept by BSol.

Accept lowest or most economically

advantageous

Using approved lists,

accept lowest only.

Formal submission to Dir. of

Corp. Services. Opened by

 Dir. of Corp Servivces  or

 their approved represnetative.

Public Advertising only, or

Approved List only, or

combination

3 Tenders

Over £50,000

 

Contract value 

Reception of 
Quotes/Tenders 

Choosing Quotes / 
Tenderers 

Quotes/Tenders required 
(min.) 

Acceptance of 
Quote / Tender 

Evidence & signing 

Above £1544,45677 Public 
Procurement regulations 
may apply – see section 4 

 

39



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 10 of 65 

SECTION 1: GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ENTERING INTO CONTRACTS 
 
1.1 Authority for entering into Contracts 
 
No exception can be made to these Contract Regulations other than: 
 
 1.1.1  In respect of a contract which relates to an executive function, the 

Executive or, in the event of urgency, the Executive Member with 
responsibility for the function to which the contract relates. 

 
1.1.2  In respect of a non-executive function, the Council or (if the function 

has been delegated to a committee) the relevant Committee or, in 
the event of urgency, the Mayor or (if the function has been 
delegated to a committee) the Chairman of the Committeewith the 
specific approval of the Executive or, in the event of urgency, the 
Executive Member.  

 
A decision to make an exception to these Contract Regulations shall be a 
decision to which Paragraph 16 (“call-in”) of Part IV of the Council’s 
Constitution shall apply.  
 
 
 
1.1.11.1.2   No Contract shall be entered into without : 

• sufficient budgetary provision for the expenditure to be incurred 

• the necessary legal power to do so exists 

• appropriate authority (which may be delegated from the Council 
or the Executive). 

 
No Councillor (including Members of the Executive) shall enter into 
or purport to enter into a contract on behalf of the Council (see the 
Protocol on Decision Making under Executive Arrangements). 

 
1.1.21.1.3   It is the duty of the Responsible Director to ensure that any 

Contract negotiations are conducted by officers possessing the 
professional skills appropriate to the proposed transaction and to 
obtain any appropriate legal and financial advice prior to entering 
into a Contract. 

 
1.1.31.1.4 Every Responsible Director shall make arrangements for the 

recording of decisions taken by him/her pursuant to these Contract 
Regulations. 

 
1.2 General procedures for entering into Contracts 
 

NOTE: The procedures in Sections 1.2 and 1.3 apply to all 
Contracts except: 
 

• Contracts for the acquisition and disposal of estates and 
interests in land; 

• Contracts governed by the Public Procurement Regime 
(Section 4); 

 
Reference should be made to general procedures for selecting 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contract Value 
 
 
Up to £5,000 
 
 
 
 
£5,001 - £50,000 

Moved from Introduction to draw greater attention to this provision 
Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

40



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 11 of 65 

Tenderers and Quotations (Section 1.3), single tender action 
(Annex A), the use of approved lists of Tenderers (Annex B) or use 
of Framework Agreements (Annex E) and public notice advertising 
 procedures (Annexes C & D). 

 
1.2.1  A Responsible Director may enter into such Contract with such 

person as he/she considers competent for the purpose provided all 
reasonable endeavours have been made to achieve value for 
money. 

 
1.2.2 (a) Subject to 1.2.2 (b) The Responsible Director may enter into such 

Contract with such person that he/she considers competent for the 
purpose provided that at least three written Quotations against a 
formal specification or written statement of requirements have been  
requested prior to such Contract being entered into.   

 
1.2.2 (b)Two written quotations need not be obtained if either the Borough 

Solicitor or the Borough Finance Officer have, upon a written 
explanation of the circumstances, confirmed in writing that it is not 
reasonably practical or appropriate to do so.   

            If it is only reasonably practical or appropriate to obtain two written 
quotations, the approval of the Monitoring Officer or Section 151 
Officer must be obtained. (If only one quote can be obtained, see 
Single Tender Action below.) 

 
1.2.3  A Responsible Director may enter into such Contract with such 

person as he/she considers competent for the purpose provided 
that he/she has invited tenders in accordance with these Contract 
Regulations or is utilising the single tender action procedure. 

 
Exceptions Single Tender Action 

 
1.2.4 In the circumstances detailed in Annex A the Responsible Director 

can use the single tender action procedure(also detailed in Annex 
A). All cases must meet the justification criteria set out in Annex A   

 
 
 
              
1.2.5 Authority Procedure for approving Single Tender Action is a  

follows: 

• £5,000  and below  - single tenders can be approved by the 
Rresponsible Director using the procedure detailed in 
section 1.2.1 

• £5,001-£250,000  - submissions with full justification must be 
made in writing for approval must be obtained from by the 
Section 151 Officer or Monitoring Officer. and Section 151                                          
Officer 

• £250,001 and above – submissions with full justification 
must be made in writing for approval 

 
(a) for Executive functions. by approval must be 

obtained from the Leader of the Council or a person 
or persons nominated by the Leader in accordance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contract Value 
 
 
Up to £5,000 
 
 
 
 
 
£5,001 - £50,000 
 
 
 
 
Over £50,000 
 
 
 
 
 
 
All values 
Over £5000 
 
 
Should 1.2.4 be 
deleted? 
 
 
 
 
< £5,000 
 
 
£5,001-£250,000 
 
 
> £250,000 
 
 

Revised single tender provisions aimed at streamlining the procedure 
to facilitate speedier routine decision making. Members will remain 
involved in the more significant decisions (>£250k), but are freed from 
more routine business process. The use of Framework Agreements 
such as those set up by the OGC (eg the new Banner stationery 
contracts) including GCAT and SCAT is regularised. 

Moved from para1.3.5 for clarity 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

41



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 12 of 65 

with his  powers of delegation detailed in Part 3 of the 
Constitution. 

(b) For non-Executive functions, by the Council or (if the 
function has been delegated to a committee) the 
relevant Committee.   

 
In cases of urgency, single tender action may be authorised by the 
Director of Corporate Services or his authorised representative in 
which event a report shall be submitted to the Council, the 
Responsible Committee or the Executive (as appropriate).  For 
Schools this should be agreed by the Governing Body and reported 
to the Director of Education 

 
his  
1.2.51.2.6 The use of approved Framework Agreements is not 

regarded treated as single tender action pursuant to these 
regulations but is governed by the provisions of – see Annex E. 
However any order of £400,000 or greater will be subject to the Key 
Decision process. – see ??? 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2.6In cases of urgency, single tender action may be authorised by the 

Director of Corporate Services or their authorised representative in 
which event a report shall be submitted to the Council, the 
Responsible Committee or the Executive (as appropriate).  For 
Schools this should be agreed by the Governing Body and reported 
to the Director of Education. 

I think this should be inserted as 1.2.6 and then the bit about framework 
agreements inserted at the end of the section 1.2 
 
1.3 Procedures for selecting Tenderers and Quotations 
 

Once the requirements of section 1.2 (General procedures for 
entering into Contracts) have been determined the following 
procedures must be applied when deciding who will be selected to 
provide a Quotation or invited to tender. Responsible Directors 
must maintain records showing who has been selected and 
why. 
 
For certain contract types each Responsible Director may hold an 
approved list of Tenderers who, having already been vetted, would 
be considered competent for the purpose of letting Contracts. This 
issue is considered at Annex B (The use of approved lists of 
tenderers). 
 

1.3.1 The Responsible Director shall decide upon the appropriate 
procedures. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contract Value 
 
Up to £5,000 
 
 
£5,001 - £50,000 
  
 
 
 
 
Over £50,000 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Up to £5000 
 
 
 
£5001-£50,000 
 
 
 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

42



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 13 of 65 

 
1.3.2 Unless an approved list exists for the Contract type, the 

Responsible Director may use his/her reasonable discretion (taking 
into account the technical competence of the proposed supplier and 
professional advice if appropriate) in deciding who to invite to 
provide a written Quotation. 

 
1.3.3 Where the Public Procurement Regulations apply the Responsible 

Director need not comply with the requirements of this paragraph if 
the Council has advertised the Contract in the Official Journal of the 
European Community.  The Responsible Director shall select 
appropriate persons to be invited to tender from; 

 

• Respondents to public advertisements placed in accordance 
with the requirements for public advertising set out in Annex 
C or D, and/or  

  

• The approved list held by the Responsible Director in 
accordance with Annex B. 

 
1.3.4 Save, where the Public Procurement Regulations apply (which have 

detailed selection criteria which must be used), where the number 
of respondents to a public advertisement exceeds the desired 
number of Tenderers, the Responsible Director shall ensure that 
those invited to tender are selected on the basis of pre-determined, 
objective measures,  including the following factors: 

 

• financial stability 

• past performance/likely future performance 

•technical resources 

•  

• health & safety/quality systems/training policies 
 

Part  of the Local Government Act 1988 precludes the Council 
from taking into account “non-commercial considerations” in 
deciding to whom an invitation to tender should be extended or to 
whom a contract should be awarded.  No such consideration should 
be taken into account. 

 
Advice: It is recommended that a minimum of three be invited to 
tender.  However there may be circumstance where the total 
number of tenderers who meet the predetermined criteria is less 
than three and only these should be invited to tender.  Again, the 
Public Procurement Regulations have different requirements. 
 
 Single tender action 

  
1.3.5 The circumstances justifying single tender action are set out in 

Annexe A.  Save in cases of urgency Authority to apply single 
tender action should be sought from the Executive or the 
Responsible Committee (as appropriate). In cases of urgency single 
tender action may be authorised by the Director of Corporate 
Services or their authorised representative in which event a report 
shall be submitted to the Council, the Responsible Committee or 

 
 
Over £50,0010 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contract Value 
 
All contracts 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 14 of 65 

the Executive (as appropriate).  For Schools this should be agreed 
by the Governing Body and reported to the Director of Education. 
 
The exceptions to the above procedure are also set out in Annexe 
A. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Now covered by para 1.2.4 

44



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 15 of 65 

 
SECTION 2: REQUIREMENTS FOR THE RECEPTION AND OPENING AND 
ACCEPTANCE OF TENDERS AND QUOTATIONS 
 
2.1 Reception and opening of Tenders and Quotations 
 
2.1.1 For procedures on ordering please refer to Financial Regulations 

and the Financial Management Handbook. 
 
2.1.2 Where written Quotations are invited the Responsible Director 

should specify by when, to whom and where the Quotation is to be 
addressed. The Responsible Director shall maintain a written record  
as set out in paragraph 2.1.1 of these Contract Regulations.  No 
correspondence shall be entered into with any individual or 
organisation submitting a Quotation during the evaluation period, 
other than to seek clarification on specific details of the 
individual/organisation’s own Quotation. 

 
2.1.3 An Invitation to tender should specify to whom and where the 

Tender is to be addressed and the closing date.  Tenders must be 
submitted in a plain sealed envelope which shall bear the word 
“tender” followed by the subject to which it relates, but shall not bear 
any name or mark by which the sender may be identified.  All 
envelopes should be distinguishable to aid identification and to 
avoid premature opening by staff responsible for receiving and 
registering post. 

 
2.1.4 Envelopes containing Tenders shall remain in the custody of the 

Director of Corporate Services or their authorised representative 
pending expiry of the Tender period.  The Tenders shall be opened 
at an appointed time in the presence of the Director of Corporate 
Services or their authorised representative and once opened 
forwarded to the Responsible Director and other relevant officers 
where appropriate.   

 
2.1.5 A schedule shall be prepared at the time of opening any Tender 

submissions which will clearly indicate the name of each Tenderer, 
the Value of each submitted Tender, (where this can be assessed) 
the date and time of the tender opening and the signatures of all 
persons then present.  The appropriate page of the Tender which 
details the total Tender Value (where it is possible to assess) shall 
also be signed by all persons then present. 

 
Late Tenders 

 
2.1.6 No late Tenders will normally be eligible for consideration.  The 

Responsible Director shall obtain the written agreement of the 
Director of Corporate Services if he/she believes that exceptional 
circumstances justify including a late Tender.  In the case of 
Tenders invited in relation to the disposal of estates and interest in 
land, the  Borough Surveyor Assistant Director Environment 
(Resources) shall have discretion to consider late tenders where  
necessary in his view to discharge the duty under Section 123 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 to sell at the best price reasonably 

Contract Value 
 
Up to £5,000 
 
 
£5,001 -£50,000 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Over £50,000 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

45



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 16 of 65 

obtainable.  The appropriate page of the tender which details the 
total tender Value shall also be agreed by all persons then present.   

 
2.1.7 Where a late tender has been deemed to be eligible for 

consideration, a record of the decision and the reason must be 
reported to the Borough Finance Officer. 

 
2.2 Acceptance of Tenders and Quotations 
 

Note: Specific regulations apply to Contracts governed by the public 
procurement process.  These are covered in sections 4 below. 
 
Those parts of the Council’s Constitution setting out Financial 
Regulations and the Delegation to Officers should also be referred 
to prior to accepting Tenders and Quotations. 

 
Use of Approved Lists (also see Annex  B) 

 
2.2.1 Where Quotations/Tenders have been received and opened using 

the approved list procedure in Annex B the Responsible Director 
may only accept the lowest Quotation or Tender.  Approval of the 
Council, the Responsible Committee, or the Executive shall be 
sought if a Tender or Quotation other than the lowest is found to be 
the most favourable received. 

 
Open Tender Process 

 
2.2.2 Where Quotations/Tenders have been received and opened under 

any process other than the use of Approved Lists as detailed in 
2.2.1 above the Responsible Director may accept a 
Quotation/Tender as follows:- 

 

• On the basis of the lowest price or the most Economically 
Advantageous, subject to the Responsible Director having 
made reasonable enquiries of and being satisfied as to the 
competence and financial standing of the 
individual/organisation submitting the Quotation. 

 

• On the basis of the lowest price or the most Economically 
Advantageous, subject to the Responsible Director having 
made a detailed financial and technical evaluation of the  
person submitting the Tender.  If the Tender accepted is to 
be other than the lowest, the reason for the decision shall be 
communicated in advance to the Director of Corporate 
Services and for Contracts in excess of £250,000 in Value 
subsequently reported to the Council. 

 
Withdrawal of offer 

 
2.2.3 If the selected tenderer withdraws his offer or fails to enter into a 

valid Contract within a reasonable period  the Responsible Director 
may, subject to obtaining the prior written approval of the Borough 
Solicitor, accept the next most suitable tender having re-applied the 
criteria in 2.2.2 above. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contract Value 
 
 
Over £5,000 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contract Value 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
£5,001 - £50,000 
 
 
 
 
 
Over £50,000 
 
 
 
 
 

46



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 17 of 65 

 
2.2.42.2.3 
 
 
 
 
 
2.3 Post Tender Negotiations 
 
2.3.1 Save in respect of a Contract which is the subject of public 

procurement requirements (in which case see Section 4) a 
Responsible Director may, if he/she considers it advantageous to 
the Council to do so and for reasons communicated in writing to the 
Borough Solicitor and the Borough Finance Officer prior to the 
commencement of negotiations, negotiate further with persons 
submitting a Quotation/Tender, provided that all persons whose 
quoted/tendered Values are within 20% or £20,000, (whichever is 
the lower), of the lowest Quotation/Tender must also be given the 
opportunity to reconsider their Quotation/Tender.  Post tender 
negotiations must, throughout, be conducted by more than one 
officer and any decisions recorded in writing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

47



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 18 of 65 

SECTION 3: CONTRACT EXECUTION PROCEDURES 
 
3.1 Evidence and signing of Contracts 
 
3.1.1 Details of Contracts which are not the subject of a formal order or 

other documented contractual process shall be recorded in writing 
and a copy kept on file.  The record shall detail the price, the service 
or goods being contracted for and timeframes for delivery/ 
performance. 

 
3.1.2 Contract shall be in writing and signed by the Responsible Director.  

A copy shall be kept on file by a designated officer in each 
Directorate. 

 
3.1.3 S 
3.1.43.1.3Save as detailed in 3.1.4 below Contracts shall be in a form 

agreed by the Borough Solicitor and:-I think we need to up the limit 
for this lot…the only thing we might need to give some thought to is 
this contracts register….at what point should that bite?OK! So I 
assume for the time being we are happy to up the limit for the 
contracts register too? I don’t have an issue with this. 

 

• Signed by the Responsible Director (the person who has 
authorised the contract shall not also sign the contract); and 
 

• Notified to the Borough Surveyor Head of Procurement by 
the Responsible Director for entry in the Register of 
Contracts, and  

•  
 

• If the Borough Solicitor should so advise, be executed under 
the common seal. 

 

•  

• If the Borough Solicitor should so advise, be executed under 
the common seal.  

 
The original contract should be retained by the Borough Solicitor 

for safe keeping and reference purposes.  
 

3.1.4 Regulation 3.1.3 shall not apply to published and commonly used 
standard forms of Contract appropriate to the particular industry to 
which the Contract relates provided that such use has been the 
subject of the prior approval of the Borough Solicitor in accordance 
with Section 6. Those contracts that are approved by the Borough 
Solicitor at the date of these regulations are contained in Annex F, 
any further subsequent approvals are held by the Head of 
Procurement    Such contracts should be signed by the Responsible 
Director (the person who has authorised the contract shall not also 
sign the contract).  The original contract should be retained by the 
Borough Solicitor for safe keeping and reference purposes. This 
needs to link into the form of contracts stuff that you have now 
inserted. Presumably we are linking this in with the over £150k 
threshold?See  suggestions above 

Contract Value 
 
Up to £5,000 
 
 
 
 
 
 £5,001- 
£150,000 
 
 
 
Over 
£50,000150,000 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Over £250,000 
 
 
Over £250,000 
 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

48



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 19 of 65 

 
3.1.5 Contracts of £250,000 or more shall be executed under the 

common seal, unless the Borough Solicitor advises otherwise.  
Such Contracts shall be notified to the Borough Surveyor Head of 
Procurement by the Responsible Director for entry in the Register of 
Contracts.  The original contract should be retained by the Borough 
Solicitor for safe keeping and reference purposes. 

 
3.1.6 Deeds shall be executed under the common seal of the Council. 
 
3.2 Recording of Contracts 
 
3.2.1 The Borough Solicitor shall maintain a record of all Contracts which 

are executed under seal of the Council.  The Responsible Director 
shall maintain a record of all Contracts for which he/she is 
responsible. 

 

49



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 20 of 65 

SECTION 4: PUBLIC PROCUREMENT 
 
4.1 Relationship with Contract Regulations 
 
4.1.1 The public procurement regulations, where they apply, take 

precedentce insofar as there is any conflict with these Contract 
Regulations.  They cover procurement in the public sector with the 
aim of ensuring competition amongst the European Union service 
providers. Responsible Directors must seek advice from the 
Borough Solicitor on the detailed procedures that have to be 
followed under the regulations. The public procurement regulations 
comprise three sets of regulations for different types of Contracts, 
discussed in turn below. 

 
4.2 Public Supply Contract Regulations 
 
4.2.1 These apply to the procurement of goods by purchase, lease, hire 

or rental where the Contract Value exceeds 249,68114,326 euros 
(£1454,47756 as at 1st January 20002).  This figure will be revised 
in the year 20024 and every 2 years thereafter. 

 
4.3 Public Works Contract Regulations 
 
4.3.1 These apply to Contracts for the execution of works relating to 

building or  civil engineering activities above the Value of 
6,242,0285,358,153 euros (£3,86611,932395 as at 1st January 
20002). 

 
4.4 Public Service Contract Regulations 
 
4.4.1 These cover all contracts which are not covered by the Public 

Supply or Public Works Regulations, (subject to certain defined 
exceptions) where the Contract Value exceeds 249,681 euros 
(£154,477 as at 1st January 2002)214,326 euros.  Services are 
divided into two categories; Part A services and Part B services.  
Advice must be sought from the Borough Solicitor as to which 
category the services the subject of the proposed Contract fall 
within.  Part A services are subject to the full Public Procurement 
requirements.  Part B services are only subject to certain 
requirements. 

 
4.5 Advertisements 
 
4.5.1 Where the public procurement regulations apply the Council must 

advertise the details of the Contract in the Official Journal of the 
European Community (OJEC) and request details of interested 
contractors to be sent to the Council.  No advertisement may be 
placed in any UK trade journal or newspaper prior to despatch of 
the advertisement to be placed in the OJEC.   

 
4.5.2 The regulations are specific as to the information which must be 

contained in the advertisement, and advice must be sought 
regarding the content of the advertisement and the appropriate 
procedure to be followed from the Borough Solicitor.  The 

50



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 21 of 65 

Responsible Director must keep evidence of the date the 
advertisement was dispatched to the OJEC. 

 

51



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 22 of 65 

 
 
 
SECTION 5: BEST VALUE 
 
5.1 Best Value 
 
5.1.1    In this section, the term “Best Value” means “ securing continuous 

improvements in the way in which the functions of the Council are 
exercised having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness”. 

 
5.2 Governing Principles 
 
5.2.1   The Responsible Director should consider how any proposed 

contract may lead to the achievement of Best Value.  This applies in 
particular to contracts with a term of 5 years or more.  The 
Responsible Director should consider whether to seek the advice of 
the Borough Solicitor on contract clauses or conditions to discharge 
the Council’s duty to secure Best Value under Section3 (1) of the 
Local Government Act 1999.  This may especially include the 
requirements for the contractor to participate in any Best Value 
Review to be undertaken by the Council and the modification of 
contractual performance as a result of the outcomes of any such 
review. 

52



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 23 of 65 

 
SECTION 6: CONTENTS OF CONTRACTS 
 
6.1 Categories Form of Contract 
 

Note: Legal Advice should always be sought before entering into 
any Contract over £50,000 in Value or any contract of a complex 
or unusual nature. 
 
The requirements of this section regarding the contents of 
Contracts apply only to contracts in excess of £50,000 in value. 

6.1      Unless other forms of contract have been specifically approved by 
the Borough Solicitor, all Contracts or Orders (excluding those 
involving statutory undertakings) shall be placed on the basis of the 
Council’s standard Conditions of Contract as follows: 

• Up to £5,000     – EITHER: 
- Conditions of Contract for the Supply of  Minor Goods 

and/or Services 01-02   
- Contract for Small Building and Associated Work 

 
• £5,001-£150,000       - EITHER :   
         - Conditions of Contract for Services 01-02 
         - Conditions of Contract for Goods 01-  02 

- Conditions of Contract for Consultancy 01-02 
 

• Over £150,000         
 - Consult with Borough Solicitor on the form of contract 

required 

 
 6.1.22      No  amendments or additions to the Council’s standard 

Conditions of Contract may be made without the approval of the 
Borough Solicitor, who should in any event be consulted in any 
case of doubt or where any novel  complex or unusual contractual 
arrangements are proposed. 

 
6.1.3 3     Copies of the Council’s standard Conditions of Contract and 

other approved forms as appended at Annex F. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.1.1For the purposes of this section, categories of Contracts are 
distinguished as follows:- 
 
Category Description 

This makes mandatory, use of the Council’s standard contract 
conditions (or other approved forms eg JCT for Works) for all contracts 
and small orders.(previously the only requirement was to consult the 
Borough Solicitor for contracts above £50k) Between £50k-£150k 
Depts can prepare their own contracts provided they use the Council’ 
standard forms and consult the Borough Solicitor before making any 
amendments or additions to these terms.This should strengthen 
contractual control, reducing risk, whilst also allowing the Borough 
Solicitor to concentrate resources on the larger, more complex 
contracts. 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

53



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 24 of 65 

 
A. Investment 
 
B. Building and engineering works 
 
C. Supply and disposal of goods or materials 
 
D. Supply and disposal of vehicles or plant 
 
E. Supply and provision of services 
 
F. Repair and maintenance 
 
G. Engagement of Consultants or Agents 
 
H. Borrowing leasing and comparable financial transactions 
 
6.2Standard contents 
 
(All Contract categories) 
 
6.2.1Every Contract shall specify the work materials matters or things to 
be furnished, had or done, the price to be paid with a statement of 
discounts or other deductions and (if applicable) the time or times within 
which the Contract is to be performed. 
 
6.3Health and Safety 
 
(All Contract categories) 
 
6.3.1In every written Contract for all categories a clause shall be inserted 
covering Health and Safety.  
 
6.4Performance bonds, liquidated damages and deeds of guarantee 
 
(Contract categories B,C,D,E,F) 
 
6.4.1The Responsible Director, in consultation with the Borough Finance 
Officer and the Borough Solicitor, shall consider in all cases whether to 
include Performance Bonds or Liquidated Damages by comparing the 
benefits with the cost.  Where a Bond is required it shall be of sufficient 
value to protect the interests of the Council. 
 
6.4.2Where the Value of the Contract warrants the same and where the 
contractor is a subsidiary company, a Deed of Guarantee should be 
obtained from the parent company.  Advice on all bonds/liquidated 
damages must be obtained from the Borough Solicitor. 
 
6.5.Dispute Resolution 
 
6.5.1.The Responsible Director should take the advice of the Borough 
Solicitor as to whether it is appropriate to incorporate an alternative 
dispute resolution, an expert determination or an arbitration clause into 
any Contract. 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

54



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 25 of 65 

 
6.6Default 
 
(Contract categories C,D,E,H) 
 
6.6.1  In every written Contract (save where the Borough Solicitor advises 
otherwise) a clause shall be inserted to secure that, should the contractor 
fail to deliver the goods, services  or materials or any portion thereof in 
accordance with the requirements specified in the Contract, the Council 
shall be at liberty, without prejudice to any other remedy for breach of 
Contract, to determine the Contract either wholly or to the extent of such 
default.  
 
6.6.2The clause should also secure that if the amount by which the cost of 
purchasing other goods, materials, products or services in place of the 
contracted goods, material, products or services exceeds the amount 
which would have been payable to the contractor for them, if they had 
been delivered in accordance with the Contract, should be recoverable 
from the contractor.  
 
6.7Data Protection 
 
(Contract categories B,C,D,E,F,G) 
 
6.7.1In every written Contract for the execution of works the supply of 
goods or materials or the provision of services there shall be inserted the 
following clause:- 
 
6.7.2“The contractor shall comply in all respects with the provisions of the 
Data Protection Act 1998 (or any subsequent or amending legislation) and 
will indemnify the Council against all actions, costs, expenses, claims 
proceedings and demands which may be made or brought against the 
Council for breach of statutory duty under the Act which arises from the 
use disclosure or transfer of personal data by the contractor and his 
servants and agents.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.8Liability of Contractors for Sub-Contractors 
 
(Contract categories B,C,D,E,F,G) 
 
6.8.1In the event that the Contract permits the contractor to sub-contract 
all or part of the works/services the Contract shall unless the Borough 
Solicitor agrees otherwise contain an additional provision stating that the 
contractor shall remain and continue to remain liable for the work of the 
sub-contractor. 
 
6.9Standards 
 
(All Contract categories) 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

55



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 26 of 65 

 
6.9.1Every Contract which specifies compliance with an appropriate 
British Standard shall also state the European equivalent standard or that 
the equivalent European union standard will be accepted and shall require 
that all goods and materials used or supplied and all workmanship shall 
be of a quality not lower than the standard specified. 
 
6.10Cancellation of Contracts 
 
(All Contract categories) 
 
6.10.1Each written Contract must contain a clause that ensures that the 
Council is entitled to cancel the Contract and to recover from the 
contractor the amount of any loss resulting from such cancellation where 
any of the following circumstances have occurred:- 
 

If the contractor or any person employed/acting on the contractor’s 
behalf (with or without the contractor’s knowledge) shall have given or 
agreed to give any gift/consideration as an inducement/reward in order to 
obtain the Contract or any other Contract with the Council, 
 

Where in relation to any Contract with the Council the contractor or any 
person employed/acting on the contractor’s behalf has committed any 
offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916 or any 
amendment of them, or shall have given any fee or reward the receipt of 
which is an offence under Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act 
1972, 
 

Where collusion has taken place between two or more tenderers/parties 
in fixing or adjusting the bids submitted for the Contract concerned. 
 
6.11Restrictions on assignment 
 
(Contract categories A, B,C,D,E,F,G,H) 
 
6.11.1Each written Contract must unless the Borough Solicitor agrees 
otherwise contain a clause which states the following: 
 
 

“The contractor shall be prohibited from transferring or assigning directly 
or indirectly to any person or persons whatsoever, any portion of the 
Contract, without written permission given on behalf of the Council by the 
Responsible Director concerned.   Subletting shall be prohibited without 
the consent of the Council.” 
 

“The contractor shall be responsible for the observance of this 
requirement by sub-contractors employed in the execution of the 
Contract.” 
 
6.12Final Certificate 
 
(Contract category B) 
 
As soon as possible after practical completion and before issuing the final 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

56



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 27 of 65 

certificate under a Contract the Responsible Director or Consultant 
concerned  shall obtain from the contractor a full and detailed 
statement of the claim in respect of the whole of the works, materials and 
things executed and delivered under the Contract, and such receipted 
vouchers as may be necessary.  The Directorate should submit to Internal 
Audit a list of final accounts paid and settled within the last month for the 
Directorate as a whole.  
 
6.13Contractors or consultants dealing with third parties 
 
(Contract categories A,B,C,D,E,F,G,H) 
 
Any contractor or consultant who will be responsible for expenditure of 
Council funds to a third party shall be required to comply with these 
Contract Regulations and Financial Regulations under the supervision of 
the Responsible Director 
 
6.14Human Rights (Contract Categories E and G) 
 
6.14.1 The Responsible Director should take advice from the Borough 
Solicitor as to whether it is appropriate to incorporate a clause into the 
Contract which indemnifies the Council from and against all losses, costs, 
expenses, damages and claims which arise from any act or omission by 
the Contractor in the performance of his obligations pursuant to the 
contract and which result from a breach of the Human Rights Act 1998.    
 
6.15Clauses specific to Contracts with Consultants 
 
(Contract category G) 
 
6.15.1Unless advised by the Borough Solicitor, a written contract shall 
require the Consultant to provide evidence to the Council that he/she is 
maintaining cover for professional indemnity insurance as specified for the 
work involved to an appropriate value. 
 
6.15.2A written contract shall require the Consultant at any time during the 
carrying out of the commission to produce to the Responsible Director or 
his representative on request all the records maintained by him in relation 
to his commission.  The Responsible Director shall consider, having taken 
the advice of the Borough Solicitor, whether it is appropriate to incorporate 
a provision within the Contract requiring the transmission of all such 
records to the Responsible Director on completion of the commission.  
Similarly, the Responsible Director, having taken the advice of the 
Borough Solicitor, should consider incorporating a statement regarding the 
vesting of copyright in the Council of all records and documentation 
produced by the Consultant during his commission. 
 
6.15.3 A written contract shall require the consultant to  ensure that any 
works he/she may be responsible for on behalf of the Council comply with 
health and safety regulations as they apply to the Council.  
 
6.16    Rights of Third Parties (all Contract categories) 
 
6.16.1Unless advised to the contrary by the Borough Solicitor all contracts 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

57



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 28 of 65 

in writing shall include the following provision “The Parties hereby declare 
that no term of this contract is intended by the parties to confer a benefit 
on any third party (as defined by the Contracts Rights of Third Parties Act 
1999) nor is it intended to be enforceable by any third party.  The 
provisions of the Act are hereby excluded”.  
 
6.17EMU compliance 
 
(Contract categories C) 
 
6.17.1The advice of the Borough IT Services Manager should be sought 
before entering into a Contract to purchase computer software, to 
determine whether a Euro compliance statement is required.  The 
Borough Finance Officer or Borough Solicitor should be consulted if the 
Responsible Director believes that goods or services to be purchased may 
be affected by the introduction of the Euro currency into the United 
Kingdom (e.g. coin operated machines). 
 
 

These paras have been omitted as the clauses concerned are either 
already in the Council’s standard Conditions of Contract, or will be 
inserted by the Borough Solicitor as necessary when consulted for 
the larger and more complex contracts. 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

58



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 29 of 65 

SECTION 7: ANCILLARY MATTERS 
 
7.1 Disposal of assets (except Land & Buildings) 
 
7.1.1 The Responsible Director shall determine the market value of any 

equipment, furniture, fittings or plant under his/her control which 
he/she considers is beyond economic repair, of no further use or 
obsolete and which is not leased by, loaned or hired to the Council 
or subject to any similar arrangement.  The method of disposal of 
such items shall be determined in accordance with the following 
provisions: 

 

• Where an item is believed by the Responsible Director to be 
of nil value, this shall be confirmed by the Borough Finance 
Officer.  Such items shall be disposed of in the most cost 
effective manner available. 

 

• Items with an estimated value of £2,000 or less shall be 
advertised for sale in such a manner as the Responsible 
Director judges to be most appropriate.  This may include 
advertising for sale to Council employees. 

 

• Items valued at more than £2,000 but less than £10,000 
shall be advertised for sale at the estimated value in local 
newspapers and specialist publications, to include public 
auctions, as determined by the Responsible Director.  Oral 
offers may be accepted subject to a written record being 
maintained to include the following details: 

• The officer reviving the quotations 

• The person making the quotation 

• The date the quotation was received 

• The value of the quotation 

• Whether the quotation was accepted or rejected. 
 

• Items valued at £10,000 or above shall be advertised for 
sale at the estimated value in local newspapers and 
specialist publications, to include auctions, as determined by 
the Responsible Director.  Offers should be requested in 
writing only, save at public auction. 

 
7.1.2 It shall be at the discretion of the Responsible Director to determine 

whether items to be disposed of are to be sold jointly if he/she 
considers the net income would be maximised from so doing. 

 
7.2 Contract variations 
 
7.2.1 Variations in the price, quality or quantity of a Contract which cause 

the total cost to exceed the estimated Contract Value by less than 
£25,000  and which do not cause the approved Service budgets (as 
amended by Financial Regulations) to be overspent, may be 
authorised by the Responsible Director.   

 
All variations between £25,000 and £50,000 above the estimate 
must be approved by Executive Members or Responsible 

59



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 30 of 65 

Committee  (as appropriate).   
 
 

All variations in excess of £50,000 shall be referred to the Executive 
or Responsible Committee (as appropriate). 

 
7.2.2 Extensions to the Contract duration shall be permitted at the 

discretion of the Responsible Director in cases where the Contract 
includes a clause providing for an extension.  In all other instances 
the Responsible Director may extend the contract; extensions in 
excess of six months shall require the approval of the Council’s, the 
Executive, or the Responsible Committee (as appropriate). 

 
7.3 Contracts over 5 years in duration 
 
7.3.1 The Director of Corporate Services shall be informed in advance 

when a Responsible Director intends to enter into a contract lasting 
in excess of five years.  In situations where the length of contract 
cannot be determined (e.g. Social Services spot contracts) the 
Director of Corporate Services shall be informed if the Responsible 
Director is of the opinion that the contract could last in excess of five 
years. 

 

60



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 31 of 65 

ANNEX A: CIRCUMSTANCES JUSTIFYING SINGLE TENDER ACTION 
 
 
A.1 Where only one company or contractor is considered to be suitable by the 

Responsible Director for any of the following reasons: The circumstances justifying 
single tender action comprise:- 

 
 

• Where the Contract can only be performed by one contractor, 
  

• Where only one company or contractor is considered to be suitable by the 
Responsible Director, 

 

• Where market conditions make genuine competition impossible and the 
Contract is for a service or goods which the market provides at fixed cost, 

  

• Where there is genuine urgency in the sense of time constraints for the letting 
of the Contract, 

 

• Where the proposed contractor is already on site and there is a financial 
benefit in negotiating an extension for further work, 

 

• Where  demonstrable benefits in service or value for money or price are likely 
to be obtainable by way of direct negotiation with a potential supplier, 

 

• Where a scheme is wholly externally funded and the funding is dependant on 
a specific contractor being used, 

 

• Such comparable circumstances as the Executive or the Responsible 
Committee (as appropriate) shall deem to justify a single tender action. 

 
Exceptions to The Requirements in paragraph  1.33.5 

 
Use of Consultants 
A.2   
 
A.2Where only one Consultant is considered most suitable by the Responsible Director single 
tender action may be applied to Contracts for consultancy services up to the Value of 
£50,000 without following the procedures outlined. Contracts of over £50,000 in Value shall 
be subject to the full procedures outlined.  I think we had agreed that this could now come out 
Rob 
 
A.3A  A Responsible Director may automatically apply single tender action, without prior 

approval or subsequent reporting to the Executive, in respect of care packages for 
individually named clients or in respect of the provision of education to pupils with 
special educational needs where the cost per annum is under £50,000.  Where the 
annual cost exceeds £50,000 per annum, three written quotations should be 
requested.  In the event that there are less than three viable suppliers the 
Responsible Director shall obtain the maximum number of quotations reasonabley 
practicable to obtain. 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

61



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 32 of 65 

 
ANNEX B: THE USE OF APPROVED LISTS OF TENDERERS 
 
B.1 This Annex gives guidance where the Executive, Responsible Committee or 

Responsible Director has determined that a list shall be kept of persons to be invited 
to tender for Contracts of specified categories, values or amounts.  This will normally 
be for regularly let contracts, where scope will exist for reducing advertising costs 
and expediently selecting contractors. 

 
Compilation and maintenance of lists 

 
B.2 Before a list is first compiled notices inviting applications for inclusion in the list shall 

be published in one or more local newspapers circulating in the Borough and in one 
or more newspapers or journals circulating amongst such persons who undertake 
such Contracts of specified categories Values or amounts. On receipt of the 
application or re-application, references shall be taken up and such investigations 
into technical ability and financial security made as may be practical.  Following 
analysis of these results a list in each category shall be finalised and the successful 
and unsuccessful persons notified.  The number of organisations or individuals 
included on an approved list shall be at the reasonable discretion of the Responsible 
Director, but shall normally be no greater than 25. 

 
B.3 Such a list shall be compiled, operated and maintained by the Responsible Director. 

The approved list of tenderers can be updated or amended at any time, to take 
account of poor performance, new products arriving on the market, etc.  Every four 
years (or more frequently if the Responsible Director feels it is appropriate) the list 
shall be re-compiled, following the procedure set out in paragraph B2.  Those 
included in the existing list shall be circulated with copies of the advertisement. 

 
B.4 Where lists of approved tenderers are provided and maintained by recognised 

national bodies, these may be adopted by the Responsible Director.  
 

Use of approved lists 
 
B.5 The selection of people being invited to provide a Quotation or invited to Tender 

shall follow a documented procedure agreed by the Responsible Director.  Normally 
this procedure will provide for the previous lowest tenderer plus at least two other 
persons to be invited to provide a Quotation/Tender. This shall ensure that requests 
to provide a Quotation/Tender are rotated in a fair and just manner, while securing 
value for money to the Council.  For each Contract, the Responsible Director shall 
ensure that written details are kept of those organisations or individuals being invited 
to provide a Quotation/Tender, whether the invitation was accepted or rejected, the 
Quotations/Tenders submitted and the result of the competitive bidding process. 

 
 

62



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 33 of 65 

 
ANNEX C: PUBLIC ADVERTISING REQUIREMENTS 
 

Note: This Annex does not apply to Contracts being placed under the public 
procurement regulations, where different timescales and procedures must be 
applied in accordance with the guidance.  This annex will apply to any situation 
where public advertising is considered appropriate in conjunction with the procedure 
in Annex A, or for obtaining possible candidates for the provision of Quotations.  

 
C.1 The requirements for public advertising, where it is to be used along with an 

approved  list of tenderers to invite tenders, are that:- 
 

• 10 days public notice are given in advance of the closing date for 
expressions of interest in one or more newspapers or journals circulating 
amongst such persons as undertake such Contracts and also in one or more 
local newspapers, where the Responsible Director is of the opinion that a 
market exists within the Borough. 

 

• The public notice expresses the nature and purpose of the proposed 
Contract and invites interested potential contractors to contact the 
Responsible Director by a date specified in the advertisement. 

 
 

 
 

63



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 34 of 65 

 
ANNEX D: PROCEDURE WHERE PUBLIC ADVERTISING ONLY IS USED 
 

Note: It is also possible for public advertising to be combined with the use of 
approved lists (see Annex B) This section applies where only public advertising will 
be used.  This procedure is, therefore, a stand alone procedure and cannot be used in 
conjunction with the procedure in Annex A.  This procedure applies where there are 
no approved lists and the contract greater than £50,000 in value. 

 
D.1 This procedure shall apply where the Responsible Director (having obtained the 

approval of the Executive or Responsible Committee shall decide that an invitation to 
tender for a Contract should be limited to persons who responded to a public notice.  

 
D.2 The Responsible Director shall ensure that public notice is given in:- 

• At least one local newspaper where the Responsible Director is of the opinion 
that a market exists within the Borough, 

• At least one newspaper or journal circulating amongst such persons or bodies 
who undertake such Contracts. 

 
D.3 The Responsible Director shall ensure that the public notice:- 
 

• Specifies details of the Contract into which the Council wishes to enter 
 

• Invites persons or bodies interested to apply for permission to tender; and 
 

• Specifies the time limit save in the case of urgency (which shall be recorded), 
being not less than 14 days, within which such applications are to be 
submitted to the Council 

 
D.4 In cases where a decision is made which requires that only a selection of persons or 

bodies expressing an interest are to be invited to tender the Responsible Director 
shall:- 

 

• After the expiry of the period specified in the public  advertisement make such 
enquiries as he/she may consider necessary as to the competence and 
financial standing of those persons or bodies expressing an interest in the 
tendering using the latest published accounts and credit ratings as provided by 
the Borough Finance Officer, 

 

• Send tender documents to at least 3 of those persons who meet the criteria for 
inclusion on the tender list (save where less than 3 persons meet the criteria 
or respond, in which case all shall be included in the tender list), and 

 

• In the event that the Contract exceeds £250,000 submit the final tender list to 
the Executive, or Responsible Committee as a confidential item for approval 
save where the responsibility for drawing up the final tender list has been 
delegated by the Executive or Responsible Committee to the Responsible 
Director. 

 

64



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 35 of 65 

 
ANNEX E: FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 
 
E1                 FFramework Agreements are standing arrangements or call-off contracts 

established to facilitate the easy repeat ordering of goods and services over several 
years. The following third party-established Framework Agreements are currently 
approved for use by the Council: 

        

• All Office of Government Commerce C Buying Solutions 
contracts (including GCAT and SCAT). 

• All Central Buying Consortium contracts 
 

          T            The list of contracts will be held by the Head of Procurement who will advise 
on their use. Aand amendments or additions to the list may only be made with the 
approval of the  Section 151 OfficerHead of Procurement., in consultation with the 
Borough Solicitor    

 
Rob, it just occurred to me that you might want to put in here something about the use of 

some framework agreements being obligatory? How about the Banner 
thing…I assume that we are saying that that is an obligatory first point of call?    
Also do you want to make reference to yourself as the contact who can detail 
what sort of things can be purchased under these various framework 
agreements or I can see the uninitiated reading this lot and thinking  “ehh???”   
OK to this! 

Finally do we need to insert something that explains that the ordering procedure if you want 
to use the framework agreement is dealt with under the conditions that apply 
to the framework agreement itself and that details of this can be found….now 
here I am not sure if we should just refer to the internet address or what. I 
think this needs a bit of thought….and you do know I assume that we as a 
council as a whole need to enter into a blanket agreement with the person 
who set up each agreement to allow the staff to make orders under them (I 
am sure this is grandmother and eggs….but I only recently found that out and 
it doesn’t seem obvious to me!!!) OK we will worry about this lot later                     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

These represent arrangements currently available for use by the Council without the need 
for further competition. They have all been set up in full compliance with EC Procurement 
Directives.  
Setting out an “approved list” of existing acceptable Framework Agreements will avoid the 
need to seek Executive approval in principle before using each contract. It also 
regularises the current occasional use of Consortium contracts.  

65



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 36 of 65 

 
ANNEX F: STANDARD CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT 
 
 
 
F 1    T            The following forms of contract are approved for use by the Council: by the 

Borough Solicitor…..Rob this then ties up with the mention of that illustrious person 
earlier! We also need to make sure that whatever we put in the earlier bit also allows 
for him to approve additional ones at any time and that you will keep the up to date list 
of any additional ones that have been approved since the last version of contract regs 
I have now included a reference to this in the body of the regs. 

 

• JCT all forms 

• ICE all forms 

• PPC2000 – ACA Standard Form for Partnering 

•Others to be added – awaiting advice from Environment 
 
F2                  TThe Council’s standard Contract Conditions are attached as follows: (section 

6.1 of these regulations requires these conditions to be used in the circumstances 
described in that section) I think you need to cross reference the bit in the text that 
requires these to be used 

 

• Conditions of Contract for the Supply of  Minor Goods and/or 
Services 01-02  

• Contract for Small Building and Associated Works 01-02 

• Conditions of Contract for Services 01-02 

• Conditions of Contract for Goods 01-  02 

• Conditions of Contract for Consultancy 01-02 
 
 
 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

66



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 37 of 65 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
Conditions of Contract for the Supply of Minor Goods and/or Services 

 
1.DEFINITIONS 

 
COUNCIL   means Bracknell Forest Borough Council or successors and assigns. 

COUNCIL EQUIPMENT means all plant, tools, equipment or other items belonging to the 
COUNCIL. 

CONTRACT   means the ORDER together with these conditions and any documents 
attached or referred to therein. 

CONTRACTOR  means the person, firm, company or corporation with whom the 
COUNCIL places an ORDER.  

GOODS  means the items specified in the ORDER (or amendment thereof) to be supplied 
by the CONTRACTOR in accordance with the CONTRACT. 

LEGISLATION  means all applicable statutes, codes of practice, regulations of any 
local, statutory, public or lawfully constituted body having authority, whether in force or 

subsequently enacted. 
ORDER    means the COUNCIL’S official numbered ORDER. 

SERVICES means the services specified in the ORDER (or amendment thereof) to be carried out by 
the CONTRACTOR in accordance with the CONTRACT. 

 
2.ASSIGNMENT & SUBCONTRACTING 

3. 
The CONTRACTOR shall not assign or subcontract the whole or part of the benefits or burdens 

under the CONTRACT without the prior written consent of the COUNCIL. 
 

4.PERFORMANCE 
 In the performance of the CONTRACT, the CONTRACTOR shall at all times comply with 

LEGISLATION.  No term of the CONTRACT is intended by either party to confer a benefit on any 
third party as defined by the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 nor is intended to be 

enforceable by any third party as defined in said Act. 
 

1.1THE GOODS SUPPLIED UNDER THE CONTRACT SHALL: 
a)be of good and sound design, materials and workmanship; 

b)Be of suitable quality and fit for the purpose(s) for which they are supplied under the CONTRACT;  
c)Conform as to description, specification and quality with the particulars stated in the CONTRACT;  

d)Be free from any defect in title. 
 

1.2THE SERVICES EXCUTED UNDER THE CONTRACT SHALL: 
a)be carried out with reasonable care and skill; 

b)be carried out with due expedition and within the time (if any) specified in the CONTRACT; 
 

5.DELIVERY OF COODS / COMPLETION OF THE SERVICES 
a)Delivery shall be deemed to be made upon receipt of the GOODS by the COUNCIL in accordance 

with the CONTRACT. 
b)The SERVICES shall be considered complete when the COUNCIL is satisfied that the SERVICES 

have been completed in accordance with the CONTRACT. 
 

6.MAINTENANCE 
The CONTRACTOR shall for 12 months following delivery of the GOODS/completion of the 

SERVICES promptly remedy any defects arising from faulty design materials or workmanship. 
 

7.RISK AND PROPERTY IN GOODS 
Without prejudice to the rights and obligations of the parties under the CONTRACT, Property in the 
GOODS or any part thereof shall pass to the COUNCIL on delivery or on payment by the COUNCIL 

(whichever is earlier) but the risk shall not pass to the COUNCIL until the GOODS have been 
delivered in accordance with the CONTRACT. 

 
8.REPAIRS TO COUNCIL EQUIPMENT 

8.1Where any COUNCIL’S EQUIPMENT is to be modified, reconditioned or repaired by the 
CONTRACTOR the property therein shall remain with the COUNCIL at all times.  The risk shall 

remain with the CONTRACTOR whilst the COUNCIL’S EQUIPMENT is under the CONTRACTOR’S 
care and control. 

 
1.2The CONTRACTOR shall clearly identify and mark COUNCIL’S EQUIPMENT as  “the property of 

Bracknell Forest Borough Council” or in such manner as the COUNCIL may require and shall 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

67



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 38 of 65 

separately store, safeguard, maintain it in good order ad condition and keep appropriate records 
thereof.  

 
1.3Damage to or loss of COUNCIL’S EQUIPMENT arising from bad workmanship or from the 

CONTRACTOR’S failure to comply with the previous of sub-clause 7.2 shall be made good at the 
CONTRACTOR’S expense either by the CONTRACTOR or as the COUNCIL otherwise instructs or by 

replacement equipment of at least the equivalent quality. 
 

1.4 COUNCIL’S EQUIPMENT shall not be disposed of by the CONTRACTOR to any third party nor 
used except for the purposes of the CONTRACT. 

 
9.PAYMENT 

9.1The price(s) detailed in the CONTRACT shall remain firm and fixed for the duration of the 
CONTRACT. 

 
1.2The CONTRACTOR shall send to the COUNCIL a detailed priced invoice(s) as instructed on the 

ORDER, clearly stating the order number, item numbers and all information required to be stated on 
a tax invoice for VAT purposes. 

 
1.3Payment of the agreed fixed price(s) shall be made within thirty (30) days from receipt of invoice 

unless otherwise specified in writing. 
 

1.4Payment shall not operate as a waiver of any rights of the COUNCIL under the CONTRACT or at 
law. 

 
10.INSURANCE AND INDEMNITIES 

10.1The CONTRACTOR shall effect and maintain general third party and where applicable, product 
liability insurance with a combined bodily injury and property damage limit of not less than two 

million pounds (£2,000,000) per occurrence or series of occurrences arising from the one event and 
unlimited in any period of insurance (aggregate for product liability).  The CONTRACTOR shall at the 
COUNCIL’S request furnish the COUNCIL with a current certificate of insurance as prescribed by the 

COUNCIL 
 

1.2The CONTRACTOR shall be liable for, indemnify, defend and hold the COUNCIL harmless from 
and against all losses, costs, damage and expenses of every kind and nature, including legal 

expenses, in respect of: 
 

a)injury, sickness, disease or death of any person, including the COUNCIL’S employees, or 
b)loss of or damage to any property, including the COUNCIL’S property. 

 
11.TERMINATION 

11.1Without prejudice to  the other parties rights and remedies under the CONTRACT or at law, if 
either party is in breach of any of its obligations hereunder the other party may after giving the party 

in breach not less than 2 days written notice to rectify such breach and if such breach is not 
rectified within such period terminate the CONTRACT or any part thereof.  In the event of 

termination by the COUNCIL under this sub-clause 10.1 the COUNCIL may retain out of any amount 
due to the CONTRACTOR under the CONTRACT an amount equal to any bona fide claim the 

COUNCIL may have against the CONTRACTOR arising out of such breach. 
 

1.2In addition the COUNCIL may at its convenience terminate the CONTRACT or any part thereof at 
any time by notice to the CONTRACTOR.  In this event the COUNCIL shall, subject to any other 
provisions of the CONTRACT, pay the CONTRACTOR for all GOODS and SERVICES supplied in 
accordance with the CONTRACT up to the time of termination and such other compensations as 

may be agreed between the parties. 
 

1.3Upon termination of the CONTRACT the CONTRACTOR shall immediately return to the COUNCIL 
all COUNCIL’S EQUIPMENT which the CONTRACTOR may have in its possession. 

 
12.CONFIDENTIALITY 

The CONTRACTOR shall keep confidential any information data or process connected with the 
business of the COUNCIL. 

 
13.APPLICABLE LAW 

The construction and performance of the CONTRACT shall be governed by the laws of England. 
 

14.ENTIRETY 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

68



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 39 of 65 

The CONTRACT comprises the entire agreement between the parties and no other terms and 
conditions unless agreed in writing between the parties shall apply. 

69



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 40 of 65 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BRACKNELL FOREST BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 
 
 

CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT: SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

70



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 41 of 65 

CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT: SERVICES 
 

These conditions may only be varied with the written agreement of the Council.  No terms 
or conditions put forward at any time by the Contractor shall form any part of the 

Contract. 
 

1 Definitions 
 

 In these conditions:- 
 

“Council”  means Bracknell Forest Borough Council 
 

 “Contractor”  means the person firm or company detailed in the Schedule to whom 
this contract is issued  

 
“Services” means the services to be provided as specified in the Schedule and 

shall, where the context so admits, include any materials articles and goods to be 
supplied thereunder 

 
“Premises” means the location where the Services are to be performed as specified 

in the Schedule  
 

“Price”                                  means the price for the Services detailed on the 
Schedule 

 
“Contract” means the Contract between the Council and the Contractor consisting 
of the Schedule, these conditions and any other documents or parts thereof specified in 

the Schedule 
 

2 Variations of the Services 
 

The Council reserves the right by notice to the Contractor to modify the quality or quantity 
of the Services and any alteration to the Price or the completion date arising by reason of 

such modification shall be agreed between the parties 
 

3 Inspection of Premises and nature of Services 
 

3.1 The Contractor is deemed to have inspected the Premises before tendering so as to 
have understood the nature and extent of the Services to be carried out and satisfied 

himself in relation to all matters connected with the Services and Premises 
 

3.2 The Council shall at the request of the Contractor grant such access as may be 
reasonable for this purpose 

 
4 Contractor status 

 
4.1 In carrying out the Services the Contractor shall be acting as principal and not as the 

agent of the Council.  Accordingly:- 
 

(a) the Contractor shall not (and shall procure that his agents and servants do not) say or 
do anything that might lead any other person to believe that the Contractor is acting as 

the agent of the Council; and 
 

(b) nothing in this Contract shall impose any liability on the Council in respect of any 
liability incurred by the Contractor to any other person but this shall not be taken to 

exclude or limit any liability of the Council to the Contractor that may arise by virtue of 
either a breach of this Contract or any negligence on the part of the Council its staff or 

agents 
 

5 Contractors personnel 

71



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 42 of 65 

 
5.1 The Contractor shall the steps reasonably required by the Council to prevent 

unauthorised persons being admitted to the Premises.  If the Council gives the Contractor 
notice that any person is not to be admitted to or is to be removed from the Premises or is 
not to become involved in or is to be removed from the involvement in the performance of 

the Contract, the Contractor shall take all reasonable steps to comply with such notice 
and, if required by the Council, the Contractor shall replace any person moved under this 
condition with another suitably qualified person and procure that any pass issued to the 

person removed is surrendered 
 

5.2 If and when instructed by the Council the Contractor shall give to the Council a list of 
names and addresses of all persons who are or may be at any time concerned with the 
Services or any part of them, specifying the capacities in which they are so concerned, 

and giving such other particulars and evidence of identity and other supporting evidence 
as the Council may reasonably require 

 
5.3 The decision of the Council as to whether any person is to be admitted to or is to be 

removed from the Premises or is not to become involved in or is to be removed from 
involvement in the performance of the Contract and as to whether the Contractor has 

furnished the information or taken the steps required by him under this condition shall be 
final and conclusive 

 
5.4 The Contractor shall bear the cost of any notice instruction or decision of the Council 

under this condition 
 

6 Manner of carrying out the Services 
 

6.1 The Contractor shall make no delivery of materials plant or other things nor commence 
any work on the Premises without obtaining the Council’s prior consent 

 
6.2 Access to the Premises shall not be exclusive to the Contractor but only such as shall 
enable him to carry out the Services concurrently with the execution of work by others.  
The Contractor shall co-operate with such others as the Council may reasonably require 

 
6.3 The Council shall have the power at any time during the progress of the Services to 

order in writing:- 
 

(a) the removal from the Premises of any materials which in the opinion of the Council are 
either hazardous noxious or not in accordance with the Contract, and/or 

 
(b) the substitution of proper and suitable materials, and/or 

 
(c) the removal and proper re-execution of any work which in respect of material or 
workmanship is not in the opinion of the Council in accordance with the Contract 

 
6.4 On completion of the Services the Contractor shall remove his plant equipment and 
unused materials and shall clear away from the Premises all rubbish arising out of the 

Services and leave the Premises in a neat and tidy condition 
 

7 Time of performance 
 

7.1 The Contractor shall begin performing the Services on the date stated in the Schedule 
and shall complete them by the date stated in the Schedule or continue to perform them 
for the period stated in the Schedule (whichever is applicable).  Time is of the essence of 

the Contract.  The Council may by written notice require the Contractor to execute the 
Services in such order as the Council may decide.  In the absence of such notice the 
Contractor shall submit any detailed programs of work and progress reports as the 

Council may from time to time require 
 

8 Payment 

72



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 43 of 65 

 
8.1 Unless otherwise stated in the Schedule payment will be made within 30 days of 

receipt and agreement of invoices, submitted monthly in arrears, for work completed to 
the satisfaction of the Council 

 
8.2 Value Added Tax where applicable will be shown separately on all invoices as a net 

extra charge 
 

9 Free issue materials 
 

9.1 Where the Council for the purposes of the Contract issues materials free of charge to 
the Contractor such materials shall be and remain the property of the Council.  The 

Contractor shall maintain all such materials in good order and condition and shall use 
such materials solely in connection with the Contract.  The Contractor shall notify the 

Council of any surplus materials remaining after the completion of the Services and shall 
dispose of them as the Council may direct.  Waste of such materials arising from bad 
workmanship or negligence of the Contractor or any of his servants agents or sub-

contractors shall be made good at the Contractor’s expense.  Without prejudice to any 
other of the rights of the Council the Contractor shall deliver up such materials whether 

processed or not to the Council on demand 
 

10 Audit 
 

10.1 The Contractor shall keep and maintain until 2 years after the Contract has 
been completed records to the satisfaction of the Council of all expenditures which are 
reimbursable by the Council and of the hours worked and costs incurred in connection 

with any employees of the Contract paid for by the Council on a time charged basis.  The 
Contractor shall on request afford to the Council or his representatives such access to 

those records as may be required by the Council in connection with the Contract 
 

11 Patents and information 
 

11.1 It shall be a condition of this Contract that, except to the extent that the 
Services incorporate designs furnished by the Council, the Services will not infringe any 

patent trademark registered design copyright or other right of the nature of industrial 
property of any third party and the Contractor shall indemnify the Council against all 

actions claims demands costs and expenses which the Council may suffer or incur as a 
result of or in connection with any breach of this condition 

 
11.2 All rights (including ownership and copyright) in any specifications 

instructions plans drawings patents models designs or other materials:- 
(a) furnished to or made available to the Contractor by the Council are hereby assigned to 

and shall vest in the Council absolutely 
 

(b) prepared by or for the Contractor for use, or intended use, in relation to the 
performance of this Contract are hereby assigned to and shall vest in the Council 

absolutely and the Contractor shall not and shall procure that his servants and agents 
shall not (except to the extent necessary for the implementation of this Contract) without 
prior written consent of the Council use or disclose any such specifications instructions 

plans drawings patents models designs or other materials as aforesaid or any other 
information (whether or not relevant to this Contract) which the Contractor may obtain 

pursuant to or by reason of the Contract except information which is in the public domain 
otherwise than by reason a breach of this provision, and in particular (but without 

prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) the Contractor shall not refer to the Council or 
the Contract of any advertisement without the Council’s prior written consent 

 
11.3 The provisions of this condition 11 shall apply during the continuance of this 

Contract and after its termination howsoever arising 
 

12 Indemnity and insurance 

73



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 44 of 65 

 
12.1 The Contractor shall indemnify the Council its servants and agents against all 

actions claims demands costs and expenses incurred or made against the Council its 
servants or agents in respect of any loss or damage or personal injury (including death) 

which arises out of or in connection with this Contract 
 

12.2 Except in the case of loss damage or personal injury (including death) suffered 
by an employee of the Contractor (in respect of which the indemnity in condition 12.1 

shall apply) whether or not the loss, damage or personal injury was caused by the 
negligent or wilful act or omission of the Council or any servant or agent of the Council 

(the indemnity contained in condition 12.1 shall not apply) to the extent that the loss 
damage or injury is caused by the negligent or wilful act or omission of the Council or any 

servant or agent of the Council 
 

12.3 The Contractor shall have in force and shall require any sub-contractor to have 
in force:- 

 
(a) employers liability insurance in accordance with any legal requirements for the time 

being in force and 
 

(b) public liability insurance for such sum and range of cover as the Contractor deems to 
be appropriate but covering at least all matters which are the subject of indemnities or 
compensation obligations under these conditions in the sum of not less than £2 million 

for any one instant and unlimited in total, unless otherwise agreed by the Council in 
writing 

 
12.4 The policy or policies of insurance referred to in paragraph 12.3 shall be shown 

to the Council whenever it requests together with satisfactory evidence of payment of 
premiums 

 
13 Racial discrimination 

 
13.1 The Contractor shall not unlawfully discriminate within the meaning of scope of 
the provision of the Race Relations Act 1978 or any statutory modification or re-enactment 

thereof relating to the discrimination in employment.  The Contractor shall take all 
reasonable steps to secure the observance of these provisions  by all servants employees 

or agents of the Contractor and all sub-contractors employed in the execution of the 
Contract 

 
14 Termination 

 
14.1 The Contractor shall notify the Council in writing immediately upon the 

occurrence of any of the following events:- 
 

(a) where the Contractor is an individual and if a petition is presented for the Contractor’s 
bankruptcy or a criminal bankruptcy order is made against the Contractor or he makes 

any composition or arrangement with or for the benefit of creditors, or makes any 
conveyance or assignment for the benefit of creditors, or if an administrator is appointed 

to manage his affairs; or 
 

(b) where the Contractor is not an individual but is a firm or a number of persons acting 
together in any capacity if any event in (a) or (c) of this condition occurs in respect of any 
partner in the firm or any of those persons or a petition is presented for the Contractor to 

be wound up as an unregistered company; or 
 

(c) where the Contractor is a company, if the company passes a resolution for winding up 
or dissolution (otherwise than for the purposes of and followed by an amalgamation or 

reconstruction) or the Court makes an administration order or a winding up order, or the 
company makes a composition or arrangement with its creditors or an administrative 

74



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 45 of 65 

receiver, receiver or manager is appointed by a creditor or by the Court, or possession is 
taken of any of its property under the terms of a floating charge 

 
14.2 On the occurrence of any of the events described in paragraph 14.1 or if the 

Contractor shall have committed a material breach of this Contract and (if such breach is 
capable of remedy) shall have failed to remedy such breach within 30 days of being 

required by the Council in writing to do so, or where the Contractor is an individual if he 
shall die or be adjudged incapable of managing his affairs within the meaning of Part VII 
of the Mental Health Act 1983 the Council shall be entitled to terminate this Contract by 

notice to the Contractor with immediate effect  Thereupon without prejudice to any of its 
rights, the Council may itself complete the Services or have them completed by a third 

party using for that purpose (making a fair and proper allowance therefore in any payment 
subsequently made to the Contractor) all materials plant and equipment on the Premises 

belonging to the Contractor and the Council shall not be liable to make any further 
payment to the Contractor until the Services have been completed in accordance with the 
requirements of the Contract and shall be entitled to deduct from any amount due to the 
Contractor the costs thereof incurred by the Council (including the Council’s own costs).  

If the total cost to the Council exceeds the amount (if any) due to the Contractor the 
difference shall be recoverable by the Council from the Contractor 

 
14.3 In addition to its rights of termination under paragraph 14.2 the Council shall be 
entitled to terminate this Contract by giving to the Contractor not less than 30 days notice 

to that effect 
 

14.4 Termination under paragraph 14.2 or 14.3 shall not prejudice or affect any right 
of action or remedy which shall have accrued or shall thereupon accrue to the Council 

 
15 Recovery of sums due 

 
15.1 Wherever under this Contract any sum of money is recoverable from or payable 
by the Contractor that sum may be deducted from any sum then due or which at any later 
time may become due to the Contractor under this Contract or under any other agreement 

or contract with the Council 
 

16 Notices 
 

16.1 Any notice given under or pursuant to the Contract may be sent by hand or by 
post or by registered post or by the recorded delivery service or transmitted by telex 

telemessage facsimile transmission or other means of telecommunication resulting in the 
receipt of a written communication in permanent form and if so sent or transmitted to the 

address of the party shown in these conditions and in the Schedule or to such other 
address as the party may by notice to the other have substituted therefore shall be 

deemed effectively to be given on the day when in the ordinary course of the means of 
transmission it would first be received by the addressee in normal business hours 

 
17 Assignment and sub-contracting 

 
17.1 The Contractor is prohibited from transferring or assigning directly or indirectly 

to any person or persons whatsoever any portion of the Contract without written 
permission given on behalf of the Council by the Council’s responsible director.   Sub-

letting is prohibited without the consent of the Council 
 

17.2 The Contractor shall be responsible for the observance of this requirement by 
sub-contractors employed in the execution of the Contract 

 
18 Data Protection 

 
The Contractor shall comply in all respects with the provisions of the  Data Protection Act 

1998 and all subsequent and supporting legislation made pursuant thereto and will 
indemnify the Council against all actions costs expenses claims proceedings and 

75



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 46 of 65 

demands which may be brought or made against the Council for breach of statutory duty 
under the Act which arises from the use disclosure or transfer of personal data by the 

Contractor and his servants and agents 
 

19 Liability for Sub-contractors 
 

In the event that the Council permits the Contractor to sub-contract all or part of the 
provision of the Services the Contractor shall remain and continue to remain liable for the 

work of the sub-contractor 
 

20 Standards 
 

In the event that the Services require compliance with an appropriate British Standard 
then the Council shall accept any equivalent European Standard 

 
21 Bribery and corruption 

 
The Council shall be entitled to terminate the Contract forthwith and to recover from the 

Contractor the amount of any loss resulting from such termination if:- 
 

(a) the Contractor shall have offered or given or agreed to give to any person any gift or 
consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for doing or forbearing to do or 

having done or forborne to do any action in relation to the Contract or any other contract 
with the Council;  or 

 
(b) the like acts shall have been done by any person employed by the Contractor or acting 

on his behalf (whether with or without the knowledge of the Contractor);  or 
 

(c) in relation to any contract with the Council the Contractor or any person employed by 
him or acting on his behalf shall:- 

 
(i) have committed any offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916, or 

 
(ii) have given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of 

the Local Government Act 1972, or 
 

(iii) where collusion has taken place between two or more tenderers or parties in 
fixing or adjusting the bids submitted for the Contract 

 
22 Human Rights 

 
22.1 The Contractor confirms that he will perform his obligations pursuant to the 

Contract in all respects in conformance with the Human Rights Act 1998 
 

22.2 The Contractor hereby indemnifies the Council from and against all losses 
costs expenses liabilities damages and claims arising from the failure of the Contractor 

his servants or agents to duly perform his obligations pursuant to sub condition 22.1 
above and arising further from any act or omission of the Contractor his servants or 

agents in respect of the non performance of the said obligations 
 

22.3 The Contractor ensures the compliance of any sub contractor of his in the 
performance of the Contract with the provisions of this condition and shall indemnify the 

Council accordingly in respect of any breach of the same by the sub contractor 
 

23 No rights of third parties 
 

The parties hereby declare that no term of the Contract is intended by the parties to confer 
a benefit on any third party (as defined by the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999) 

nor is intended to be enforceable by any third party.  The provisions of the said Act are 
hereby excluded 

76



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 47 of 65 

 
24 Waiver 

 
24.1 The failure of either party to insist upon the strict performance of any provision 
of the Contract or the failure of either party to exercise any right or remedy to which it is 
entitled hereunder shall not constitute a waiver thereof and shall not cause a diminution 

of the obligations established by the Contract 
 

24.2 A waiver of any breach of contract shall not constitute a waiver of any such 
subsequent breaches 

   
24.3 No waiver of any of the provisions of the Contract shall be effective unless it is 

expressly stated to be a waiver and communicated to the other party in writing 
 

25 Headings 
  

The headings to these conditions shall not affect their interpretation 
 

26 Governing Law 
  

These conditions shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English Law 
and the Contractor hereby irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the English Courts 

 
 

77



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 48 of 65 

 
 

THE SCHEDULE 
 
 

The Contractor 
[detail name and address of the Contractor] 

 
 
 

The Services 
[include a description of the services with reference to a detailed specification if required] 

 
 
 

The Price 
[include details of payment terms if different from condition 8.1 and include the price to be 

paid for the services] 
 
 
 

Delivery of Services 
[include details of the timing for the delivery of the services including the start and end 

date] 
 
 
 

Premises 
[detail the premises where the services are to be performed] 

 
 
 

Order Number 
[if applicable] 

 
 
 
 

Signed by…………………… 
The duly authorised officer of the Council 

 
 
 

Signed by……………………………. 
Authorised to sign on behalf of the Contractor 

 
 
 

Dated……………………… 
 
 

78



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 49 of 65 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

         
 
 
 
 
 

BRACKNELL FOREST BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT:  GOODS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

79



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 50 of 65 

 
CONDITIONS OF PURCHASE: GOODS 

 
These conditions may only be varied with the written agreement of the Council.  No terms 
or conditions put forward at any time by the Suppliers shall form any part of the Contract. 

 
1 Definitions 

 
 In these conditions:- 

 
 “Council” means Bracknell Forest Borough Council 

 
“Supplier” means the person firm or company detailed in the Schedule to whom this 

contract is issued 
 

“the Goods” means any such goods as are to be supplied by the Supplier (or by any 
of the Supplier’s sub-contractors) pursuant or in connection with the Order 

 
“Price” means the price for the Goods detailed on the Schedule 

 
“Order” means the Contract between the Council and the Contractor consisting of the 

Schedule, these conditions and any other documents or parts thereof specified in the 
Schedule 

 
2 The Goods 

 
2.1 The Goods shall be to the reasonable satisfaction of the Council and shall conform in 

all respects with any particulars described in the Schedule or any agreed variations 
thereto confirmed in writing between the parties 

 
2.2 The Goods shall conform in all respects with the requirements of any statutes, orders, 

regulations or bylaws from time to time in force 
 

2.3 The Goods shall be suitable and sufficient for the purpose for which such Goods are 
ordinarily used and for any particular purpose made known to the Supplier by the Council 
and the Council relies on the skill and judgment of the Supplier in the supply of the Goods 

and the execution of the Order 
 

3 The Price 
 

3.1 The price of the Goods shall be as stated on the Schedule and no increase will be 
accepted by the Council unless agreed by the Council in writing before the execution of 

the Order 
 

3.2 If the Goods are to be delivered in consignments then unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Council the Supplier shall render a separate invoice in respect of each 

consignment delivered under this Order.  Payment shall be due 30 days after receipt of the 
Goods or the correct invoice therefore, whichever is the later 

 
4 Delivery 

 
4.1 The Goods shall be delivered to the place named on the Schedule.  Any access to 

premises and any labour and equipment that may be provided by the Council in 
connection with the delivery shall be provided without acceptance by the Council of any 

liability whatsoever and the Supplier shall indemnify the Council in respect of any actions 
claims demands charges losses costs and expenses which the Council may suffer or 

incur as a result of or in connection with any damage or injury (whether fatal or otherwise) 
occurring in the course of delivery or installation to the extent that any such damage or 
injury is attributable to any act or omission of the Supplier or any of his sub-contractors 

 

80



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 51 of 65 

4.2 Where any access to the Council’s premises is necessary in connection with delivery 
or installation the Supplier and his sub-contractors shall at all times comply with the 

reasonable security requirements of the Council 
 

4.3 The time of delivery shall be of the essence and failure to deliver within the time 
promised or specified shall enable the Council (at its option) to release itself from any 

obligation to accept and pay for the Goods and/or to cancel all or part of the Order 
therefore, in either case without prejudice to its rights and remedies 

 
5 Property and risk 

 
Property and risk in the Goods shall without prejudice to any of the rights or remedies of 

the Council (including the Council’s rights and remedies under condition 7 hereof) pass to 
the Council at the time of delivery 

 
6 Damage in transit 

 
 On despatch of any consignment of the Goods the Supplier shall send to the Council 

at the address for delivery of the Goods an advice note specifying the means of transport, 
a place and date of despatch, the number of packages and their weight and volume.  The 
Supplier shall, free of charge and as quickly as possible, either replace or repair (as the 

Council shall elect) such of the Goods as may either be damaged in transit or having been 
placed in transit fail to be delivered to the Council provided that:- 

 
(a) in the case of damage to such Goods in transit the Council shall within 30 days of 

delivery give notice to the Supplier that the Goods have been damaged 
 

(b) in the case of non delivery the Council shall (provided that the Council has been 
advised of the despatch of the Goods) within 10 days of the notified date of delivery give 

notice to the Supplier that the Goods have not been delivered 
 

7 Inspection rejection and guarantee 
 

7.1 The Supplier shall permit the Council or its duly authorised officer to make any 
inspections or tests it may reasonably require and the Supplier shall afford all reasonable 
facilities and assistance free of charge at his premises.  No failure to make complaint at 
the time of such inspection or test and no approval given during or after such tests or 

inspections shall constitute a waiver by the Council of any rights or remedies in respect of 
the Goods 

 
7.2 The Council may by written notice to the Supplier reject any of the Goods which fail to 
meet the requirements specified herein.  Such notice shall be given within a reasonable 
time after delivery to the Council of the Goods concerned.  If the Council shall reject any 
of the Goods pursuant to this condition the Council shall be entitled (without prejudice to 

its other rights and remedies) either:- 
 

(a) to have the Goods concerned as quickly as possible either repaired by the Supplier or 
(as the Council shall elect) replaced by the Supplier with Goods which comply in all 

respects with the requirements specified herein; or 
 

(b) to obtain a refund from the Supplier in respect of the Goods concerned 
 

7.3 The guarantee period applicable to the Goods shall be 12 months from putting into 
service or 16 months from delivery, whichever shall be the shorter (subject to any 
alternative guarantee arrangements agreed in writing between the Council and the 

Supplier or detailed on the Schedule).  If the Council shall within such guarantee period or 
within 30 days thereafter give notice in writing to the Supplier of any defect in any of the 

Goods as may have arisen during such guarantee period under proper and normal use the 
Supplier shall (without prejudice to any other rights and remedies which the Council may 

81



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 52 of 65 

have) as quickly as possible remedy such defects (whether by repair or replacement as 
the Council shall elect) without cost to the Council 

 
7.4 Any Goods rejected or returned by the Council as described in condition 7.2 or 7.3 

shall be returned to the Supplier at the Supplier’s risk and expense 
 
 
 

8 Labelling and packaging 
 

8.1 The Goods shall be packed and marked in a proper manner and in accordance with the 
Council’s instructions and any statutory requirements and any requirements of the 

carriers.  In particular the Goods shall be marked with any Order number detailed on the 
Schedule (if applicable), the net gross and tare weights, the name of the contents shall be 

clearly marked on each container and all containers of hazardous goods (and all 
documents relating thereto) shall bear prominent and adequate warnings.  The Supplier 

shall indemnify the Council against all actions claims demands losses charges costs and 
expenses which the Council may suffer or incur as a result of or in connection with any 

breach of this condition 
 

8.2 All packaging materials will be considered non-returnable and will be destroyed unless 
the Supplier’s advice note states that such materials will be charged for unless returned.  
The Council accepts no liability in respect of the non-arrival at the Supplier’s premises of 

empty packages returned by the Council unless the Supplier shall within 10 days of 
receiving notice from the Council that the packages have not been despatched notify the 

Council of such non-arrival 
 

9 Patents and information 
 

9.1 It shall be a condition of this Order that, except to the extent that the Goods are made 
up in accordance with designs furnished by the Council, none of the Goods will infringe 

any patent trademark registered design copyright or other right in the nature of industrial 
property of any third party and the Supplier shall indemnify the Council against all actions 

claims demands losses charges costs and expenses which the Council may suffer or 
incur as a result of written connection with any breach of this condition 

 
9.2 All rights (including ownership and copyright) in any specifications instructions plans 
drawings patterns models designs or other material furnished to or made available to the 
Supplier by the Council pursuant to this Order shall remain vested solely in the Council 
and the Supplier shall not (except to the extent necessary for the implementation of this 

Order) without prior written consent of the Council use or disclose any such 
specifications plans drawings patterns models or designs or any information (whether or 

not relevant to this Order) which the Supplier may obtain pursuant to this Order and in 
particular (but without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing) the Supplier shall not 
refer to the Council or the Order in any advertisement without the Council’s prior written 

agreement 
 

10 Health and Safety 
 

10.1 The Supplier represents and warrants to the Council that the Supplier has 
satisfied himself that all necessary tests and examinations have been made or will be 

made prior to the delivery of the Goods to ensure that the Goods are designed and 
constructed so as to be safe and without risk to the health or safety of persons using the 
same and that he has made available to the Council adequate information about the use 

for which the Goods have been designed and have been tested and about any conditions 
necessary to ensure that when put to use the Goods will be safe and without risk to 
health.  The Supplier shall indemnify the Council against all actions claims demands 

losses charges costs and expenses which the Council may suffer or incur as a result of or 
in connection with any breach of this condition 

 

82



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 53 of 65 

11 Indemnity insurance 
 

11.1 Without prejudice to any rights or remedies of the Council (including the 
Council’s rights and indemnities under condition 7) the Supplier shall indemnify the 

Council against all actions claims demands losses charges costs and expenses which the 
Council may suffer or incur as a result of or in connection with any damage to property or 

in respect of any injury (whether fatal or otherwise) to any person which may result 
directly or indirectly from any defect in the Goods or the negligent or wrongful act or 

omission of the Supplier 
 

11.2 The Supplier shall effect with a reputable insurance company a policy or 
policies of insurance covering all the matters which are the subject of indemnities under 

these conditions and shall at the request of the Council produce the relevant policy or 
policies together with receipts or other evidence of payment of the latest premium due 

thereunder 
 

12 Termination on Supplier’s insolvency 
 

12.1  Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the Council under this 
Order the Council shall have the right forthwith to terminate this Order by written notice to 

the Supplier or his trustee in bankruptcy or receiver or (if a company) liquidator or 
administrator if the Supplier shall have a receiver appointed over all or a substantial part 

of his or its assets or (if an individual) be declared bankrupt or (if a company) shall go into 
liquidation or have an administrator appointed to manage its affairs 

 
13 Recovery of sums due 

 
13.1 Wherever under this Order any sum of money is recoverable from or payable 
by the Supplier that sum may be deducted from any sum then due, or which at any later 
time may become due, to the Supplier under this Order or under any other agreement or 

contract with the Council 
 

14 Assignment and sub-contracting 
 

14,1 The Supplier is prohibited from transferring or assigning directly or indirectly 
to any person or persons whatsoever any portion of the Order without written permission 

given on behalf of the Council by the Council’s responsible director.  Subletting is 
prohibited without the consent of the Council. 

 
14.2 The Supplier shall be responsible for the observance of this requirement by 

sub-contractors employed in the execution of the Order 
 

 15 Default 
 

15.1 If the value of the Order exceeds £50,000, then should the Supplier fail to 
deliver the Goods or materials or any portion thereof within the time specified in the Order 

the Council shall be at liberty, without prejudice to any other remedy for breach of 
contract, and without prejudice to any further conditions detailed herein, to determine the 
Order either wholly or to the extent of such default and to purchase other goods materials 

or products as the case may be of the same or similar description to make good:- 
 

(a) such default; or 
 

(b) in the event of the Order being wholly determined the Goods materials or products 
remaining to be delivered 

 
15.2 If the amount by which the costs of purchasing such other goods materials or 
products exceeds the amount which would have been payable to the Supplier for them, if 

they had been delivered in accordance with the Order, will be recoverable from the 
Supplier 

83



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 54 of 65 

 
16 Data Protection 

 
16.1 The Supplier shall comply in all respects with the provisions of the Data 

Protection Act 1998 (or subsequent legislation) and will indemnify the Council against all 
actions costs expenses claims proceedings and demands which may be made or brought 
against the Council for breach of statutory duty under the Act which arises from the use 

disclosure or transfer of personal data by the Supplier and his servants and agents 
 
 

17 Liability for sub-contractors 
 

17.1 In the event that the Council permits the Supplier to sub-contract all or part of 
the provision of the Goods the Supplier shall remain and continue to remain liable for the 

work of the sub-contractor 
 

17.2 In the event that the Order requires compliance with an appropriate British 
Standard then the Council shall accept any equivalent European Standard.   

 
 
 

18 Bribery and corruption 
 

18.1 The Council shall be entitled to terminate the Order forthwith and to recover 
from the Supplier the amount of any loss resulting from such termination if:- 

 
(a) the Supplier shall have offered or given or agreed to give to any person any gift or 
consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for doing or forbearing to do or 

having done or forborne to do any action in relation to the Order or any other order with 
the Council;  or 

 
(b) the like acts shall have been done by any person employed by the Supplier or acting 

on its behalf (whether with or without the knowledge of the Supplier);  or 
 

(c) in relation to any order with the Council the Supplier or any person employed by it or 
acting on its behalf shall:- 

 
(i) have committed any offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916, or 

 
(ii) have given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an offence under Section 117(2) of 

the Local Government Act 1972 
 

(iii) where collusion has taken place between two or more tenderers or parties in 
fixing or adjusting any bids submitted for this Order 

 
19 Year 2000 warranty 

 
The Supplier warrants that neither the performance nor the functionality of Goods will be 
affected by the advent of the year 2000.  In particular this warranty shall cover the British 
Standards Institute definition of year 2000 conformance requirements as defined in disc  

pd 2000 - 1 which is reproduced in full below:- 
 

(a) no value for current date will cause any interruption in operation 
 

(b) date based functionality must behave consistently for dates prior to during and after 
year 2000 

 
(c) in all interfaces and data storage the century in any date must be specified either 

explicitly or by unambiguous algorithms or interferencing rules 
 

84



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 55 of 65 

(d) year 2000 must be recognised as a leap year 
 

20 EMU continuity 
 

20.1. The parties confirm that the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event 
associated with economic and monetary union in the European Community will not have 

the effect of altering any term of, or discharging or excusing performance under this 
Order or give a party the right unilaterally to alter or terminate this Order 

 
20.2. “an event associated with economic and monetary unit in the European 

Community” includes, without limitation, each and every combination of the following:- 
 

(i) the introduction of, changeover to or operation of a single or unified European 
currency, whether known as the Euro or otherwise 

 
(ii) the fixing of conversion rates between a member state’s currency and the new 

currency or between the currency of member states 
 

(iii) the substitution of that new currency for the ECU as the unit of  account of the 
European community 

 
(iv) the introduction of that new currency as lawful currency in a member state 

 
(v) the withdrawal from legal tender of any currency that, before the introduction of the 

new currency, in one of the member states 
 

21 Human Rights 
 

21.1 The Supplier confirms that it will perform its obligations pursuant to the Order 
in all respects in conformance with the Human Rights Act 1998 

 
21.2 The Supplier hereby indemnifies the Council from and against all losses costs 

expenses liabilities damages and claims arising from the failure of the Supplier its 
servants or agents to duly perform its obligations pursuant to sub condition 21.1 above 

and arising further from any act or omission of the Supplier its servants or agents in 
respect of the non performance of the said obligations 

 
21.3 The Supplier ensures the compliance of any sub contractor of it in the 

performance of the Order with the provisions of this condition and shall indemnify the 
Council accordingly in respect of any breach of the same by the sub contractor 

 
22 No rights of third parties 

 
The parties hereby declare that no term of the Order is intended  by the parties to confer a 
benefit on any third party (as defined by the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999) 
nor is intended to be enforceable by any third party.  The provisions of the said Act are 

hereby excluded 
 

23 Waiver 
   

23..1 The failure of either party to insist upon the strict performance of any provision 
of the Order or the failure of either party to exercise any right or remedy to which it is 

entitled hereunder shall not constitute a waiver thereof and shall not cause a diminution 
of the obligations established by the Order 

 
23.2 A waiver of any breach of contract shall not constitute a waiver of any such 

subsequent breaches 
   

23.3 No waiver of any of the provisions of the Order shall be effective unless it is 
expressly stated to be a waiver and communicated to the other party in writing 

85



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 56 of 65 

 
24 Notices 

 
Any notice given under or pursuant to the Order may be sent by hand or post or by 

registered post by the recorded delivery service or transmitted by telex telemessage 
facsimile transmission or other means of telecommunications resulting in receipt of a 

written communication in permanent form and if so sent or transmitted to the address of 
the parties detailed in the Order and the Schedule, or to such other address as the party 
may by notice to the other have substituted therefore, shall be deemed effectively given 

on the day when in the ordinary course of the means of transmission it would first be 
received by the addressee in normal business hours 

 
25 Headings 

 
The headings to conditions shall not affect their interpretation 

 
26 Governing Law 

 
These conditions shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English Law 
and the Supplier hereby irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the English Courts 

86



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 57 of 65 

THE SCHEDULE 
 
 
 

The Supplier 
[ complete name and address] 

 
 
 

The Goods 
[include full description of the Goods cross referencing detailed specification if 

appropriate] 
 
 
 
 
 

The Price 
[detail price to be paid including instalments agreed if appropriate. State whether VAT is 

payable] 
 
 

Delivery Details 
[Include place of delivery, including time and if consignments required] 

 
 
 

Guarantees 
[only if at variance with condition 7.3] 

 
 

Order number 
[If applicable] 

 
 
 
 
 

Signed by…………………. 
The duly authorised officer of the Council 

 
 
 
 

Signed by………………… 
Duly authorised to sign on behalf of the Contractor 

 
 
 
 

Date…………………………………. 
 
 

87



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 58 of 65 

          
 
 
 
 
 

    
 
 
 

BRACKNELL FOREST BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

to 
 
 
* 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSULTANCY AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

nn/(f)/ag/Consultancy Agreement     

88



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 59 of 65 

 
THIS AGREEMENT is made the                       day of                             BETWEEN   
BRACKNELL FOREST BOROUGH COUNCIL of Easthampstead House  Town 

Square  Bracknell  Berkshire (hereinafter referred to as “BFBC”) of the one part 
and  

[                                                    ] whose registered office is situate at [  
                                                     ] (hereinafter referred to as “the Consultants”) of 

the other part 
 

WHEREAS:- 
 

(1) The Consultants have agreed to provide certain consultancy services to BFBC 
 

NOW IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS:- 
 

1. Definitions 
 

In this Agreement the following words shall have the following meanings 
assigned to them:- 

 
 “the Services”  means the consultancy services to be provided by 

the 
 Consultants to BFBC in accordance with the Specification and the terms of this 

Agreement 
 

            “the Specification” means the specification attached hereto 
 

            “Commencement means the commencement of this Agreement 
which 

             Date” shall be [                                                         ] 
 

             “Term” means the term of this Agreement commencing on the 
Commencement Date and terminating upon [              ] 

 
             “the Payment” means the consideration for the Services which is detailed 

in clause 3.1 hereto 
“Confidential 

  Information” means BFBC’s secrets or confidential information and extends to 
all knowledge and information relating to BFBC’s business organisation finances 

processes specifications clients services and technology 
 

             “the Employee” means the employee of the Consultants namely 
 [                       ] 

 
2. The Services 

2.1 The Services will be provided by the Consultants to BFBC in 
accordance with the Specification for the Term 

 
2.2 It is intended that the Services shall be provided by the Consultants in 
close consultation with BFBC and accordingly BFBC and the Consultants shall 
agree during the Term the manner and timing of the provision of the Services.  

The Consultants will use their reasonable endeavours to provide the Services in 
the manner so directed 

 

89



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 60 of 65 

2.3 It is a condition of the Agreement that the Services will be provided by 
an employee of the Consultants who shall be the Employee and that any 

proposed replacement employee must be approved in writing in advance by 
BFBC 

 
2.4 The Services will consist of a maximum of [     ] weeks (a week is 

deemed to consist of 37 hours excluding public holidays) which shall be allocated 
during the Term in accordance with directions given by BFBC pursuant to clause 
2.2 hereof provided always that any week shall consist of no less than [     ] days 

and no more than [     ] days 
 

3. Payment Provisions 
3.1 In consideration of the provision of the Services BFBC agrees to pay the 

Consultants a sum of £[      ] per day [including/excluding] VAT (“the Payment”)    
No additional expenses will be payable of whatever nature or however incurred 
save travelling accommodation and subsistence agreed by BFBC in advance 

 
3.2 The Payment will be paid monthly in arrears by BFBC to the Consultants 

upon correct invoice from the Consultants   The invoice shall contain the 
following information relating to the month to which the invoice relates:- 

 
3.2.1 The dates worked and number of man days provided and the daily rate 

charged 
 

3.2.2 Copies of agreed time sheets 
 

3.2.3 Details of approved expenses invoiced 
 

3.3 All correct invoices will be paid by BFBC within 30 days of receipt 
 

4. Liability of BFBC 
BFBC shall not be liable for any economic loss including loss of profit suffered by 

the Consultant and arising from any breach of the obligations of BFBC in the 
Agreement 

 
5. Notices 

5.1 No notice served on BFBC pursuant to this Agreement shall be valid 
and effective unless it is sent by recorded delivery to BFBC at the address above 

and marked for the attention of [                    ] 
 

5.2 No notice served on the Consultants shall be valid and effective unless 
it is sent by recorded delivery to the Consultants at the registered address 

detailed above 
 

5.3 Any notice to be served shall be deemed to be given on the date when it 
would be delivered in the ordinary course of post 

 
6. Variations 

 Any variations to this Agreement must be made in writing and signed by the 
duly authorised representatives of both parties 

 
7. Professional Expertise 

90



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 61 of 65 

It is a condition of this Agreement that the Services to be provided shall be 
provided by a person of sufficient expertise and in accordance with the good 

working practices of the relevant profession 
 

8. Assignment 
8.1 The Consultants are prohibited from transferring or assigning directly 

or indirectly to any person or persons whatsoever this Agreement in whole or part 
and are prohibited from sub-letting this Agreement without the prior written 

consent of BFBC 
 

8.2 BFBC may assign this Agreement in whole or part to a statutory or 
public body or any successor authority or authorities of BFBC 

 
9. Termination 

9.1 BFBC may terminate this Agreement upon 7 days notice in writing to the 
Consultants in the following events:- 

(a) if the Consultants shall become bankrupt or have a receiving order made 
against them or shall present their petition in bankruptcy or shall make an 

arrangement with or assignment in favour of their creditors or shall agree to carry 
out this Agreement under the committee of inspection of its creditors or (being a 
corporation) shall go into liquidation (other than a voluntary liquidation for the 
purposes of amalgamation or reconstruction) or if the Consultants without the 
consent in writing of BFBC first obtained or shall have an execution levied on 

their goods; or 
 (b) if the Consultants have failed to comply with Clause 10 relating to 

Bribery and Corruption; or 
(c) if the Consultants are in breach of the terms of Clause 8 hereof (assignment or 

subletting); or 
(d) if the Consultants have failed to comply with the terms of this Agreement; or 

(e) if the Consultants are in breach of Clause 2.3 
 

9.2 BFBC may terminate this Agreement after 14 days written notice to the 
Consultants (during which period such breach has not been remedied to the 

reasonable satisfaction of BFBC) if the Consultants:- 
(a) have abandoned this Agreement; or 

(b) without reasonable excuse have failed to commence the performance of the 
Services; or 

(c) despite previous warning from BFBC in writing are failing to perform the 
Services with due diligence or are otherwise persistently or materially in breach 

of their obligations under this Agreement 
 (d) are in breach of Clause 7 

 
9.3 The Consultants may but not unreasonably or vexatiously give 28 days 

notice to BFBC to terminate this Agreement if:- 
(a) BFBC has failed to make any due payment in accordance with this Agreement; 

or 
(b) BFBC or any person for whom BFBC is responsible interferes with or obstructs 

the progress of the Services 
 

The notice shall be withdrawn if BFBC within the 28 days notice:- 
(i) makes any due payment; or 

(ii) to the reasonable satisfaction of the Consultants BFBC or any person for 
whom BFBC is responsible ceases to interfere with or obstruct the progress of 

the Services 

91



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 62 of 65 

 
9.4 The above Clauses 9.1 to 9.3 are provided always that the right to 

terminate shall be without prejudice to any other rights or remedies which either 
party may possess 

 
10. Bribery and Corruption 

BFBC shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement forthwith and to recover from 
the Consultants the amount of any loss resulting from such termination if:- 

(a) the Consultants shall have offered or given or agreed to give to any person any 
gift or consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward for doing or 

forbearing to do or having done or forborne to do any action in relation to the 
Agreement or any other contract with BFBC;  or 

(b) the like acts shall have been done by any person employed by the Consultants 
or acting on his behalf (whether with or without the knowledge of the 

Consultants);  or 
(c) in relation to any contract with BFBC  the Consultants or any person employed 

by them or acting on their behalf shall:- 
(i) have committed any offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 

1916, or 
(ii) have given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an offence under Section 

117(2) of the Local Government Act 1972, or 
(iii) where collusion has taken place between two or more tenderers or 

parties in fixing or adjusting the bids submitted for this Agreement 
 

11. Data Protection 
 The Consultants shall comply in all respects with the provisions of the Data 

Protection Act 1998 (and subsequent and subordinate legislation) and will 
indemnify BFBC against all actions costs expenses claims proceedings and 

demands which may be made or brought against BFBC for breach of statutory 
duty under the Act which arises from the use disclosure or transfer of personal 

data by the Consultants and its servants and agents 
 

12. No Waiver 
 No delay neglect or forbearance on the part of either party in enforcing against 

the other party any term or condition of this Agreement shall either be or be 
deemed to be a waiver or in any way prejudice any right of that party under this 

Agreement 
 

13. Insurance 
13.1 The Consultants shall at all times maintain in force such policies of 

insurance with reputable Insurers or underwriters as shall fully insure and 
indemnify the Consultants and BFBC against all sums which shall become legally 

liable to be paid by way of compensation for accidental bodily injury (including 
death or otherwise) or accidental damage to property:- 

(i) to BFBC and to any employee of BFBC; and 
(ii) to the employees of the Consultants; and 

(iii) to any other person 
 

 The insurance cover shall be in the sum of at least £[2 million] for any one 
occurrence or series of occurrences arising out of any one event   The insurance 
cover may be reasonably increased from time to time at the reasonable request of 

the Borough Finance Officer 
 

92



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 63 of 65 

13.2 The Consultants shall maintain in force professional indemnity 
insurance in the sum of £[1,000,000] during the Term and shall continue to 

maintain the same in force for a period of [3] years following the termination 
hereof   This provision and Clause 13.3 hereof shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement and remain in full force and effect for [3] years following the 
termination hereof 

 
13.3 The Consultants shall if requested supply BFBC with copies of all 

insurance policies cover notes premium receipts and other documents necessary 
to comply with Clause 13 hereof  

 
13.4 The insurance in respect of claims for personal injury to or the death of 

any person under a contract of service or apprenticeship with the Consultants 
and arising out of and in the course of such person’s employment shall comply 

with the Employer’s Liability (Compulsory Insurance) Act 1969 and any Statutory 
Orders made thereunder or any amendment or re-enactment thereof 

 
13.5 The Consultants shall immediately notify BFBC and the Consultants 

Insurers of any happening or event which may give rise to a claim demand 
proceeding damage costs or charge whatsoever arising out of this Agreement 
and the Consultants shall indemnify BFBC against any loss whatsoever which 

may be occasioned to BFBC by the Consultants failure to give such notification 
 
 

14. The Employee 
 The Consultants acknowledge that the Employee is an employee of the 

Consultants   The Consultants indemnify BFBC from and against all expenses 
costs losses liabilities and claims arising from any claim whether successful or 

not by the Inland Revenue that the Employee is an employee of BFBC 
 

15. Records 
 At any time upon the request of BFBC the Consultants shall produce all 
records maintained by the Consultants in relation to the Services   All such 
records shall be transferred to BFBC forthwith upon the termination of this 

Agreement 
 In this clause the term “records” means all records in any medium (whether 

written, computer readable or otherwise) including accounts, documents, 
drawings and private notes about BFBC and all copies and extracts of them made 

or required by the Consultant in the course of this consultancy. 
   

16. Health & Safety 
 The Consultants shall ensure that the Services comply with the requirements 

of the Health and Safety at Work (etc) Act 1974 the Management of Health and 
Safety Regulations 1992  Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (COSHH) 
Regulations 1988 and 1994 and the Road Traffic Act 1988 and any other Acts 

Regulations Order or European Directive pertaining to the health and safety of 
employed persons together with the BFBC’s own health and safety policies from 

time to time in force 
 

17. Expenditure of BFBC Funds 
 In the event that the Consultants shall be responsible for expenditure of the 

funds of BFBC to a third party in the performance of the Services then that 
expenditure shall only be effected under the supervision of the Chief Officer of 

93



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 64 of 65 

the appropriate department of BFBC and in accordance in all respects with the 
Standing Orders of BFBC and in particular BFBC’s Contract Regulations 

 
18. Indemnity 

 The Consultants indemnify BFBC and keep BFBC harmless against all claims 
expenses injury loss or damage to or by any person whatsoever including BFBC 
arising out of the performance of the Services and the Consultants obligations in 

this Agreement 
 

19. Intellectual Property 
 Intellectual property rights in any work produced by the Consultants and/or the 

Employee and as a result of the performance of the Services shall vest in BFBC 
 

20. Confidentiality 
 Both parties shall during this Agreement and after its termination keep 

confidential and not (save for the purposes of this Agreement) use or disclose or 
attempt to use or disclose to any person any confidential information   This shall 
not apply to confidential information which is in the public domain otherwise than 

as a breach of this clause 
 
 

21. Default 
 Should the Consultant fail  to deliver the goods or materials or any proportion 

thereof within the time specified in this Agreement BFBC shall be at liberty 
without prejudice to any other remedy for breach of contract to determine this 
Agreement either wholly or to the extent of such default and to the purchase of 

the same or similar description to make good 
(i) such default or 

(ii) in the event of the Agreement being wholly determined the services remaining 
be delivered 

 
 The cost of purchasing such services, so far as they exceed the amount which 
would have been payable to the Consultant for them if they had been delivered in 

accordance with the Agreement shall be recoverable from the Consultant 
 

22. Consultants Status 
22.1 The Consultant shall be an independent contractor and not the servant 

of BFBC. 
 

22.2 In such capacity the Consultant shall bear exclusive responsibility of 
payment of National Insurance Contributions in respect of the Employee and for 

the discharge of any Income Tax and VAT liability arising out of the remuneration 
for the work of the Consultant performed pursuant to this Agreement 

 
23. Rights of Third Parties 

The parties hereby declare that no term of this Agreement is intended by the 
parties to confer benefit on any third party (as defined by the Contracts Rights of 
Third Parties Act 1999) nor is intended to be enforceable by any third party.  The 

provisions of the said Act are excluded. 
 

24.Human Rights 
The Consultant confirms that he will perform his obligations pursuant to this 

Agreement in all respects in conformance with the Human Rights Act 1998.  The 
Consultant hereby indemnifies BFBC from and against all losses costs expenses 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

94



DDDRRRAAAFFFTTT   

Contract Regulations 03-03  
CONTRACT REGULATIONS 03-03 v1.0 

Draft v1.0 
Page  of 50 

 
 
 

Page 65 of 65 

liabilities damages and claims arising from the failure of the Consultant or the 
Employee to duly perform his obligations pursuant to this clause and arising 

further from any act or omission of the Consultant or the Employee in respect of 
the non performance of the said obligations. 

 
25.Survival of Rights on Termination 

Termination of this Agreement shall not affect the rights of the parties accrued up 
to the date of termination. 

 
Signed as a Deed      Signed as a Deed 

By        by 
the duly authorised officer of     on behalf of 

BRACKNELL FOREST BOROUGH    in the presence of:- 
COUNCIL in the presence of:- 

 
Date        Date 

 
 
 
 

 

Formatted: Bullets and Numbering

95



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 27 February 2003
	4 Appointment of Chief Executive
	6 Executive Report
	06A Executive report annexe
	06A1 Procurement Strategy - Imp Plan

	7 Review of Contract Regulations
	00 Contract Regulations ANNEX B


